

# AGRICULTURAL UNIVERSITY OF ATHENS DEPARMENT OF FOOD SCIENCE & HUMAN NUTRITION LABORATORY OF CHEMISTRY & FOOD ANALYSIS

# PROGRAMME OF POSTGRADUATE STUDIES FOOD, NUTRITION & HEALTH

MSc thesis

Average consumption of total sugar and added sugar and their correlation with different anthropocentric assessment criteria in children, adolescents, and adults

Varvara I. Micha

<u>Supervisor:</u> Antonis Zampelas, Professor AUA

ATHENS 2022

# AGRICULTURAL UNIVERSITY OF ATHENS DEPARTMENT OF FOOD SCIENCE & HUMAN NUTRITION LABORATORY OF CHEMISTRY & FOOD ANALYSIS

# MSc thesis

Average consumption of total sugar and added sugar and their correlation with different anthropocentric assessment criteria in children, adolescents, and adults

"Μέση κατανάλωση συνολικών σακχάρων και προστιθέμενης ζάχαρης και η συσχέτιση τους με διαφορετικά ανθρωπομετρικά κριτήρια αξιολόγησης σε παιδιά, εφήβους και ενήλικες"

# Varvara I. Micha

Examination committee: Antonis Zampelas, Professor AUA (supervisor) Aimilia (Emilia) Papakonstantinou, Assistant Professor AUA Eleftherios Drosinos, Professor AUA Average consumption of total sugar and added sugar and their correlation with different anthropocentric assessment criteria in children, adolescents and adults

MSc Food Nutrition & Health Department of Food Science & Human Nutrition Laboratory of Chemistry & Food Analysis

# Abstract

In general lines, the accumulation of fat in the body can be characterized as obesity. Obesity is very common and in some cases has taken the form of an epidemic. A form of obesity is the child obesity which can be found both in developed and developing countries. Obesity, especially, the last 30 years has been increased considerably, and it constitutes a high priority for the World Health Organization. There is a consensus among experts of the field that the reason obesity can be described as an energy imbalance between the calories that are consumed and the calories that are expended, respectively.

However, the recent trends regarding obesity research have clearly shown that obesity is connected to a number of biological and environmental factors as well as lifestyle. More particularly, increased sugar consumption is linked with a number of side-effects such as excessive gain weight, obesity, metabolic syndrome, type 2 diabetes, hypertension and other cardiovascular disorders with a greater emphasis in children.

In the current thesis, there is an analysis about the prevalence in obesity across various countries – including Greece – and population, its pathogenesis, management, and treatment. Moreover, it is shed light on the effect of foods with natural as well as added sugars on overall health and its association with children obesity.

Scientific area: Obesity

Keywords : obesity, children, sugar, added sugar, epidemiology, diseases, children obesity

Μέση κατανάλωση συνολικών σακχάρων και προστιθέμενης ζάχαρης και η συσχέτιση τους με διαφορετικά ανθρωπομετρικά κριτήρια αξιολόγησης σε παιδιά, εφήβους και ενήλικες

ΠΜΣ Τρόφιμα, Διατροφή & Υγεία Τμήμα Επιστήμης Τροφίμων & Διατροφής του Ανθρώπου Εργαστήριο Χημείας & Ανάλυσης Τροφίμων

# Περίληψη

Σε γενικές γραμμές, η συσσώρευση λίπους στο σώμα μπορεί να χαρακτηριστεί ως παχυσαρκία. Η παχυσαρκία είναι πολύ συχνή και σε ορισμένες περιπτώσεις έχει πάρει τη μορφή επιδημίας. Μια μορφή παχυσαρκίας είναι η παιδική παχυσαρκία η οποία συναντάται τόσο στις αναπτυγμένες όσο και στις αναπτυσσόμενες χώρες. Η παχυσαρκία, ειδικά, τα τελευταία 30 χρόνια έχει αυξηθεί σημαντικά και αποτελεί υψηλή προτεραιότητα για τον Παγκόσμιο Οργανισμό Υγείας. Υπάρχει ομοφωνία μεταξύ των ειδικών του χώρου ότι ο λόγος της παχυσαρκίας μπορεί να περιγραφεί ως μια ενεργειακή ανισορροπία μεταξύ των θερμίδων που καταναλώνονται και των θερμίδων που καταναλώνονται, αντίστοιχα.

Ωστόσο, οι πρόσφατες τάσεις όσον αφορά την έρευνα για την παχυσαρκία έχουν δείξει σαφώς ότι η παχυσαρκία συνδέεται με διάφορους βιολογικούς και περιβαλλοντικούς παράγοντες καθώς και με τον τρόπο ζωής. Πιο συγκεκριμένα, η αυξημένη κατανάλωση ζάχαρης συνδέεται με μια σειρά από παρενέργειες όπως η υπερβολική αύξηση του βάρους, η παχυσαρκία, το μεταβολικό σύνδρομο, ο διαβήτης τύπου 2, η υπέρταση και άλλες καρδιαγγειακές διαταραχές με μεγαλύτερη έμφαση στα παιδιά.

Στην παρούσα διπλωματική εργασία γίνεται ανάλυση σχετικά με τον επιπολασμό της παχυσαρκίας σε διάφορες χώρες - μεταξύ των οποίων και η Ελλάδα - και πληθυσμούς, την παθογένεια, τη διαχείριση και τη θεραπεία της. Επιπλέον, ρίχνεται φως στην επίδραση των τροφίμων με φυσικά αλλά και πρόσθετα σάκχαρα στη συνολική υγεία και στη συσχέτισή τους με την παιδική παχυσαρκία.

# Επιστημονικός τομέας: Παχυσαρκία

**Λέξεις κλειδιά:** παχυσαρκία, παιδιά, ζάχαρη, πρόσθετη ζάχαρη, επιδημιολογία, ασθένειες, παιδική παχυσαρκία

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

First of all, I would like to express my heartfelt appreciation to my supervisors, Antonis Zampelas and Emmanuella Magriplis, for the invaluable help and support they provided me during the preparation of my diplomatic work.

This endeavor would not have been possible without my parents who have supported me in every way throughout this time.

Finally, I also thank my colleagues for their cooperation during the journey towards my Master's degree.

Thank each and everyone of you.

# Contents

| Abstract   | 1  |
|--|----|
| Περίληψη   | 2  |
| Acknowledgments                                    | 3  |
| 1. Introduction                                    | 6  |
| 2. Pathogenesis of obesity                         | 8  |
| 3. Prevalence of obesity                           | 11 |
| 3.1. Globally                                      | 11 |
| 3.1.2 Europe                                       | 14 |
| 3.1.2 Greece                                       | 15 |
| 4. Effects and complications of obesity            | 19 |
| 4.1. Short-term effects                            | 19 |
| 4.2. Long-term effects                             | 20 |
| 4.3. Childhood obesity and diabetes                | 20 |
| 4.4. Childhood obesity and cardiovascular diseases | 20 |
| 4.5. Childhood obesity and hormonal disorders      | 21 |
| 4.6. Musculoskeletal problems                      | 22 |
| 4.7. Psychosocial effects                          | 22 |
| 5. Management and treatment                        | 22 |
| 5.1. Dietary control                               | 22 |
| 5.2. Physical activity                             | 23 |
| 5.3. Behaviour Modification / Behavioural Theory   | 24 |
| 5.4 Body mass index                                | 25 |
| 6. Food and health                                 | 30 |
| 6.1. Nutrition                                     | 30 |
| 6.2. Sweeteners in the diet                        | 32 |
| 6.3. Nutrient sweeteners                           | 33 |
| 6.3.1. Sugars                                      | 33 |
| 6.3.2. Polyols                                     | 33 |
| 6.3.3. Non-nutritive sweeteners                    | 33 |
| 6.4. The price of Acceptable Daily Intake          | 35 |
| 6.5. Health  | 35 |

| 7. Determinants                 | 2 |
|---------------------------------|---|
| <b>7.1 Meaning</b>              | 2 |
| 7.2 Demographic characteristics |   |
| <b>7.3.</b> Eating Habits       |   |
| 8. Results                      | 6 |
| 9. Conclusions                  | 7 |
| REFERENCES                      | 1 |

# Figures/tables

| <b>Table 1.</b> Overview of genes implicated in pathogenesis of obesity                | 10   |
|--|------|
| Figure 1. Summary of epidemiological data on the prevalence of obesity in Europe durin | ıg   |
| the period 1991-2003   | . 29 |
| Figure 2. Obesity prevalence 2015  | 29   |

# **1. Introduction**

Obesity can be described as a disease, that is caused, as we said in the introduction of this thesis, by the excessive accumulation of fat in the body. Although, research hasn't concluded which is the ideal percentage of fat in adults to be healthy (Navalpotro et al., 2012). The prevalence of obesity has increased to a great extent in the last 30 years, resulting in body fat indices that today are five times higher in comparison to the past (Bray, 2014). Moreover, it is worth mentioning that obesity can cause even mortality in underweight people (Mbogori et al, 2020). In addition, obesity increases the possibility of early-onset diseases during childhood and can lead to an increased mortality rate. Just to give some examples of such comorbidities are the development of diabetes mellitus Type 2, cardiovascular and kidney diseases, metabolic syndrome, fatty liver disease, obstructive sleep apnea, cholesterol disorders, metabolic syndrome, and mental disorders. The most common mental disorder is depression which can be present throughout adulthood if it is not healed early (Swinburn et al, 2011).

The occurrence of obesity but also its prevalence are associated with many different factors including biological, lifestyle, and environmental ones. As said earlier, childhood obesity negatively affects the physical and mental health of children and has an impact on their later adult life with very serious consequences or in some cases can result in premature death. To go a step further, obesity is recognized as a major threatening factor for Non-Communicable Diseases (NCDs), such as cardiovascular diseases, cancer, and diabetes, accounting for >70% of premature death globally (WHO, 2017). Therefore, it is not a disease that affects simply the physical condition of children but mainly has an impact on their health in so many ways. Childhood obesity is thereby perceived as a scourge for the developed world, which needs to be addressed immediately (Navalpotro et al., 2012); Therefore, it is a high priority for the WHO, as one of the core objectives of the Global Action Plan for the Prevention and Control of Non-Communicable Diseases 2013–2020 (WHO, 2016).

In childhood and adolescence, the percentage of fat differs in so many ways. To be more specific, the fat differs not only amongst boys and girls but also depending on the age and physical maturity of each child and this difference turns almost impossible for scientists to set clear limits to define the ideal percentage of fat. Factors that affect not only the body weight but also the distribution of fat in the human body should be sought in a mix of environmental influences and genetic factors, and even in cultures with similar lifestyles, body weight, and fat percentages can be varied, as well (Poskitt & Edmunds, 2008).

An important part of the study of obesity and its treatment includes the determination of the amount and distribution of adipose tissue. Next to that, the distribution of body fat is also crucial and can act as an indication of the subsequent risks of obesity. Indeed, intra-abdominal fat, which is more common in men, is more detrimental to health in comparison to the fat that is accumulated in the glutes, which is more common in women. Therefore, determining the distribution of fat is an indication of further health effects for both adults and children (Poskitt& Edmunds, 2008). Relating to our study, the WHO provides a definition of obesity and overweight amongst children aged 5-19 as follows: for someone to be overweight, the BMI-for-age must appear one standard deviation above the WHO Growth Reference Median and for obesity, it needs to be greater than 2 standard deviations (WHO, 2021).

Existing guidelines on combating obesity are related to an energy imbalance between consumed and expended calories. Nevertheless, approaches targeted at weight loss– decreasing energy consumption and increasing expenditure in most cases fail (see Blüher, 2019). Instead of targeting only the responsibility of the individual, it is more feasible for the obesogenic (and preventative) behaviors to occur as a result of environmental, societal, as well as biological factors acting in tandem (e.g., Franco et al., 2013; Flores-Dorantes et al., 2020; Loos & Yeo, 2022)

The disproportionate consumption of sugar on health and disease constitutes a very active area not only of scientific but also of policy debate. The influence of WHO guidelines is apparent and therefore a great number of countries are implementing regulations or are taking public health policy measures that are based on reducing sugar intake in their population, especially in children. These concerns are justified by current research which has concluded that excessive consumption of sugar can have an impact on dental caries, overweight and cardio-metabolic risk factors, and mortality. For instance, Moynihan (2016) highlights that even decreasing sugar intake greatly reduces but again does not eliminate dental caries. Another recent report has shown that individuals with dental caries display a much higher mortality rate (Liu et al., 2022).

What is more, numerous studies showed that many causes can lead to obesity, and among them are genetic, epigenetic, and environmental factors. For instance, scientists concluded that some people struggle with food cravings which are regulated in the individual's brain. Moreover, gut microbiota can play a huge role in controlling someone's appetite. Finally, all the above factors are regulated by an organ in the brain known as the hypothalamus with the secretion of hormones. Thus, if there is an impairment in that very important organ then it can cause multiple disorders and one of those disorders can be obesity (Singer-Englar et al, 2019).

Additionally, genetic factors play a huge role in metabolism regulation. Recent epigenetic studies showed that specific genes in the human genome can regulate and determine the body's metabolism. This can also be explained by taking into account the family's clinical history to determine the obesity risk (Dubern, 2019).

There can be used various methods that give trustworthy results to measure the percentage of fat in the body and its distribution. For this particular reason, several factors are taken into account at least in adults. Some of these factors are the following: height, weight, BMI, age, and sex of an individual (Comizio et al., 1998); the definition for children has already been cited above. There are different measurements used in studies for calculating obesity. However, those measurements are very accurate and cannot be widely used in comparison to measurements based on anthropometry which is more economical and easier to use (Burniat et al., 2006).

In the next section, the discussion is going to revolve around the prevalence of obesity including childhood obesity, across different countries, its pathogenesis, management, and treatment. In addition, the discussion will refer to the impact of foods with added and natural sugars on health along with its potential consequences.

## 2. Pathogenesis of obesity

At its core, obesity is the result of an imbalance between excessive consumption and little expenditure of calories (e.g., Camacho & Ruppel, 2017). From an evolutionary perspective, it is plausible that early genotypes which favored overconsumption and little energy expenditure could tolerate higher bouts of famine or under nutrition, leading to a higher likelihood of reproductive success. Such overeating can have detrimental effects, and more particularly there are several people today that are dying because of overweight and obesity (WHO, 2016).

Although not yet fully elucidated, biomedical science has made substantial leaps in the etiology of obesity. For instance, neurobiological approaches (e.g., animal studies) have identified

key brain regions regulating body weight, such as the hypothalamus whereby damage to it – amongst others – results in abnormal food-seeking behavior and obesity (e.g., Anand &Brobeck, 1951; Farooqi, 2014; Park et al., 2020; Raji et al., 2009). In addition, a seminal finding from murine investigations showed that a mutation in the *ob*gene (encoding for the hormone leptin) resulted in severe obesity in *ob/ob*mice (Coleman & Hummel, 1969; Zhang et al., 1994). Moreover, it is now understood that gaining abnormal weight from obesogenic diets also largely depends on unique genotypes which are more accommodating to such overeating behaviors (Li et al., 2020).

Not surprisingly, observations from twin studies have indicated that obesity can also be the result of an inherited disorder, while the heritability rates of BMI are estimated at 40-70% (Borjeson, 1976; Herrera & Lindgren, 2010; Stunkard et al., 1990). Although these rates do pinpoint an evident environmental contribution, it is probably best to view obesity as a condition driven by both genetic and environmental factors acting in synergy. Nevertheless, it is now generally understood that most – if not all causes – of obesity, whether they are monogenetic, polygenic, or environmental, converge on key brain pathways regulating body weight (Table 1; see Loos & Yeo, 2022). However, monogenetic causes of obesity are usually rare and difficult to detect, further corroborating the search for multidisciplinary interventions (Bluher, 2019). Understanding these biological pathways can promote the design of behavioral, environmental (e.g., exercising), and pharmacological interventions aimed at modulating pathways to suppress obesogenic mechanisms.

According to a recent article Obesity in Children by Steven M. Scharz, professor of pediatrics at Children's hospital in Downstate of New York has also shown that the dysfunction of the ghrelin and leptin hormonal pathway may be a factor affecting 10% of obese individuals and particularly those with familial obesity. Multiple reports have shown that in these families, replacement therapy for leptin deficiency leads to weight loss.

However, despite the claims that genetic predisposition and hormonal disorders play a role, they do not explain the excessive weight gain. Although most obese and overweight children have a form of family obesity with 1 or 2 obese parents, weight gain is also influenced by genetics as well as environmental factors.

#### Table 1

| Gene  | Species                  | Expression      | Role   | Reference            |  |  |
|---|--------------------------|-----------------|--|----------------------|--|--|
| ADCY3 Human   | n Cell cil               | ia Influenc     | ce energy balance in neurons   | Siljee et al. (2018) |  |  |
| AGRP<br>(1999)  | -                        | Hypothalamus    | Increases food intake  | Cowley et al.        |  |  |
| <i>BDNF</i> (2000)  | Humans                   | Brain           | Synaptic plasticity  | Kernie et al.        |  |  |
| <i>LEP</i> (1996)   | Humans/mice              | Fat             | Regulates neuroendocrine system<br>during starvation                       | Ahima et al.         |  |  |
| <i>MC4R</i><br>(1999)   | Humans/pigs/             | CNS             | Mediates appetitive behavior   | Cowley et al.        |  |  |
| (2009)  | cavefish                 |                 |  | Greenfield et al.    |  |  |
| MRAP2 HumansMostly brainTrafficking of MC4R to cell surfaceAsai et al. (2013) |                          |                 |  |                      |  |  |
| POMC<br>(1998)<br>Bertag  | Humans/dogs<br>na (1994) | Hypothalamus,   | Processed into melanocortin peptid<br>pituitary, adrenal that signal to MC |                      |  |  |
| glands  |                          |                 |  |                      |  |  |
| <i>SH2B1</i><br>(2012)  | Humans                   | Wide expression | Signalling molecule downstream of leptin receptor                          | Doche et al.         |  |  |
| <i>SIM1</i> (2001)  | Humans                   | Hypothalamus,   | Transcription factor important for   | Michaud et al        |  |  |
|   |                          | kidneys, fat    | development of PVN, thus crucial   |                      |  |  |
|   |                          |                 | for MC4R expression  |                      |  |  |

Overview of genes implicated in the pathogenesis of obesity (adapted from Loos & Yeo, 2022).

*ADCY3*, adenylate cyclase; *AGRP*, agouti-related protein; *BDNF*, brain-derived neurotrophic factor; *LEP*, leptin; *MC4R*, melanocortin 4 receptor; *MRAP2*, melanocortin receptor accessory protein 2; *POMC*, pro-opiomelanocortin; *SH2B1*, SH2B adaptor protein 1; *SIM1*, SIM Bhlh transcription factor 1; PVN, paraventricular nucleus

## 3. Prevalence of obesity

#### 3.1. Globally

The superiority of weight problems in adults has doubled since 1980. More than one-third of the population around the world is considered to be overweight or obese. Moreover, it was found that the obesity rate has increased in both males and females with older people having a higher prevalence of obesity (Ataey et al., 2020). At a global level, it is estimated that between 1980-2015, children's obesity increased from 3.9 to 7.2% in boys and from 3.7 to 6.4% in girls aged 2–4 years (Di Cesare et al., 2019). Moreover, the prevalence of obesity is also related to socioeconomic status. That means that countries and families with a low income are more vulnerable to becoming obese than those with a high income. In the beginning, obesity was considered an issue that characterizes high-income countries, but recent surveys have shown that the rate and the prevalence of the disease have decreased dramatically (Chen et al, 2019). On the contrary, in low-income countries, the obesity rate is increased especially in urban areas. Particularly, a study which was conducted in China, for more than 22 years, showed an increased prevalence of obesity in both sexes from 2.8% to 13.2% in females and from 1.45% to 15% in males. (Chen et al, 2019).

Furthermore, it was discovered that in the USA obesity prevalence among pediatric patients is above 18% which means that if interventions are not implemented, then today's children are going to be obese as adults. What is more, studies suggest that a child which is overweight during early years has an increased risk of becoming obese in their adulthood. Furthermore, consequences of childhood obesity can include the onset of illnesses like asthma, diabetes Type 2, mobility problems, bone disorders as well as mental disorders due to the stigma (Deal et al, 2020).

The changes that occur in the percentages of overweight and obese children between different countries differ significantly due to their age, gender, place of residence, and their socioeconomic level. In this respect, it has been found that at a global level, more than 22 million children, under the age of 5, are overweight while it seems that 1 out of 10 children is overweight. These global average prevalence rates indicate a range of disparate values of overweight and obese children, with the prevalence of overweight being around 10% in Africa and Asia, with over 20% in the United States and Europe. The percentage of children with an above-normal BMI was projected to double by 2010 based on existing data from the 1990s to 2010 (Kosti & Panagiotakos, 2006). Generally speaking, according to recent trends in global BMI values based on body weight and height data from 128.9 million children, adolescents, and adults, it was found that the prevalence of obesity has increased in every country between 1975 - 2016 (Abarca-Gomez et al., 2017).

Even though, the primary focus of this thesis is on children, it is vital to recognize that obesity is a serious problem for adolescent and adult populations; As a matter of fact, obesity prevalence has significantly increased worldwide in children and adolescents from 0.7% to 5.6% in boys and 0.9% to 7.8% in girls covering a period from 1975 to 2016 (Abarca-Gomez et al., 2017). In addition, between almost the same period (1975-2014), the same prevalence has increased from 3.2% to 10.8% in adult men and from 6.4% to 14.9% in adult women; In the year 2014, 0.64% of men and 1.6% of women exhibited morbid obesity (i.e., BMI >40kg/m<sup>2</sup>) (NCD-Risc, 2016). Geserick et al. (2018) have shown that most rapid weight gain can occur between 2 and 6 years of age and can lead to serious risk of obesity, as more children who were obese at these specific ages were also obese in adolescence; gauging from the above findings, it is speculated that adult obesity might also stem from this childhood risk.

In the USA, the occurrence of childhood obesity rose from 5% to 13% in boys and from 5% to 9% in girls between 1966 - 1970 and 1988-1991 (Kosti & Panagiotakos, 2006) while for the years 2009 -2010, it was noticed a rapid increase in girls (33.2% overweight & obese) and boys (35.1%) (IOTF, 2004; 2005). In North America, the rates of overweight children aged 6-11 increased from 15% in 1963 to 22% in 1991, while the rates for obese children were 5% and 11% in the same years (Troiano et al., 2000).

It is noteworthy to be underlined that in the United States of America in 1991 only 4 states had a prevalence of obesity of 15-19% while in 2004, 7 states had a prevalence of 15-19%, had 20-24% and 9 had an obesity rate of more than 25%. In the United States during the years 1971-1974 and 1988-1994 in children aged 6-18 years, the prevalence of overweight and obese children had increased by 15.4% during the years 1971 -1974, to 25.6% in the years 1988-1994 without significant differences between boys and girls while it was discovered a larger increase in individuals found in the lower socio-economic strata. It was also observed that the prevalence of overweight and obese children was higher for the ages of 10 -18 years compared to the solar group

6-9 years, which did not appear to be in other countries (Brazil, China, Russia) (Deckelbaum and Williams, 2001).

In the period 1999-2004, the increase in overweight and obese children, targeting the 95th percentile of America's growth curves, increased from 13.8% in 1999-2000 to 16% in 2003-2004 for girls and from 14% to 18.2% for boys in those years (Ogden et al., 2006).

The data of the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey or also known by the abbreviation NHANES from surveys of children aged 2 to 19 in the United States compared to NHANES data from 1971-1974 (CDC) found them to be obese. The data mentioned above are discouraging if someone looks at the rates of childhood obesity in other countries, which range from 4% to 15% while the rates of overweight children are twice or three times higher than the rates of obese (Ogden et al., 2002).

In Canada, there was a 2003 study of height and weight in children under the age of 18 which found, by taking into account the IOTF criteria, that the prevalence of overweight children was 33% (41% for boys and 25.7% for girls), while the prevalence of obese children was 14.9% (15.9% for boys and 13.9% for girls) (Neovious et al., 2006). Moreover, across Canada, the prevalence of obesity climbed significantly for a period between 2005 and 2017/18, from 22.2% to 27.2% with the prevalence among adults aged 40–69 years exceeding 30% (Lytvyak et al., 2022).

In Mexico, it was found that the prevalence of overweight/obese children aged 6-13 over 30 years, while during the years 1968 - 1978, the percentages of overweight/ obese children were small, in 2000 these percentages were at 5.1% and 7.6% for overweight boys and girls respectively, while the prevalence of obese children was 1.1% for both boys and girls (Malina et al., 2007). Di Bonaventuraet al. (2017) showed that in a sample of 2511 Mexican adults, 38.3% were overweight while 24.4% were obese with increasing BMI linked to the expected risk for cardiovascular and metabolic impairment.

For the year 2010, girls were at 29% and boys at 28.1% (IASO). In Seychelles, the prevalence of overweight children aged 6-12 according to the CDC criteria was twice as high in 7 years, as it increased from 4% to 6% in 1998 to 9.4% in 2004, an increase corresponding to 0.8% per year. This increase in the prevalence of obesity coincided with rapid socio-economic growth, a finding that was also present in other developing countries, such as Brazil.

In Brazil, it was discovered that the prevalence of overweight/obese children, aged 6-18, tripled between 1974 and 1997 as the rate increased from 4.1% to 13.9% for those years (Bovet et al., 2006).

#### **3.1.1** Europe

Over the last few decades, several surveys have taken place in various European countries to estimate the proportion of overweight but also of obese children. The studies concluded that the prevalence of childhood obesity varies from very low levels, in the countries of Central and Eastern Europe to quite high in the southern countries of Europe and particularly in countries that are not classified into the so-called eastern bloc. Childhood obesity in European countries has reached an alarming level, especially in many southern countries of Europe, with ranges from 20% -40% while in countries of the north, these rates range from 10% -20% (Lobstein & Frelut, 2003).

In 2002, one in four children in Europe could be considered overweight or obese. In Europe, the prevalence of childhood obesity stood at 24% in 2002 and has exceeded greatly the expected growth rate based on data from the 1980s, while it is much higher than expected for the year 2010 (IOTF, 2004). The annual change in the prevalence of overweight and obese includes 400,000 children, which is added to the already 14 million overweight children each year, including 3 million children who can be classified as obese (IOTF, 2005).

In Sweden and always following the IOTF criteria, the prevalence of overweight and obese children aged 6-12 years was 16.6% and 3.8% for boys and 19.1% and 3.7% for girls respectively in the year 2000 (Zimmermann et al., 2004), while it amounted to 1.7% for boys and 2.7% for girls (Woringer&Schütz, 2003). In 2001, a survey in one of Sweden's largest cities came to the result that many children aged 6-13 were facing problems with obesity. In particular, 26.3% of girls and 20.2% of boys were overweight and 6.9% of girls and 2.8% of boys were obese (Neovius et al., 2006). In 1990, the rates of overweight and obesity for adult men were 34.5% and 6.6%, while for women 31.2% and 13.1%, respectively (Kuskowska-Wolk&Rossner, 1990); a study by Hemmingsson et al. (2020) showed that between 1995 and 2017, the prevalence of severe obesity increased by 153%, compared to obesity (+86%) and overweight (+23%) in adult (18-74) populations.

In Switzerland, a survey of children aged 5-16 years showed that 14% of girls and 15.5% of boys were overweight in relation to the IOTF criteria. Furthermore, the corresponding rates for obese children were 3% for girls and 2% for boys (Schutz &Woringer, 2002). In Italy, the rates of childhood obesity range from 13% in the central and northern regions to 23% in the southern regions of the country. In the year 2008, there was a sharp increase with the rate for girls reaching 34.7% and for boys at 37.2%.

Finally, another meta-analysis that was conducted in Europe, measured the BMI of children aged between 6 and 9 years old and measured the obesity prevalence using the worldwide guidelines from World Health Organization (WHO). This study was carried out from 2007 to 2017 and involved 11 European countries. It is interesting the fact that the total number of children, which eventually participated in this study was estimated at around 300000. Moreover, the results showed that the prevalence of obesity decreased in Southern Europe compared to Northern and Eastern EU countries where the prevalence was rather high. The same study also observed that the obesity prevalence in the boys' population decreased in countries like Portugal from 40% in 2007 to 28% in 2017. A similar path follows Greece, where obesity in the pediatric population decreased from 30% in 2009 to 22% in 2017. On the other hand, Lithuania was the only EU country, in which there was a high increase in overweight from 24.8% to 28.5%, and obesity from 9% to 12%. Moreover, the above data were identical between boys and girls. To conclude, it was observed that when the EU countries promoted policies to fight obesity, the epidemic of obesity was reduced (Buoncristiano et al., 2021).

#### 3.1.2 Greece

Firstly, a recent meta-analysis took place in Greece regarding the pediatric population who suffers from the problem of obesity. Particularly, the existence of obesity was investigated in children of primary and secondary education schools. The total amount of participants was around 3500 students and their ages varied between 10 and 16 y/o while they were residents of Western Greece. Furthermore, all the necessary demographic characteristics, including socioeconomics, physical activity, and dietary patterns were collected, via the distribution of a questionnaire. The results that came out from this study revealed that 19% of this population was overweight and the other 12% was obese using the criteria that are provided by the Centers for Disease Control (CDC).

Furthermore, when the IOTF criteria (International Obesity Taskforce) were used, the results revealed that 20.9 of them were overweight and 7% were obese. Another finding was that the children were often consuming food during school hours and a large number of sweets when they were at home. To conclude, this meta-analysis demonstrated that the obesity rate in Greece remains pretty high and the risk factors that are related to the disease can be used to develop prevention strategies (Kostopoulou et al., 2021).

Based on another study which again was conducted in Greece, it was found that obesity among children increases the risk of metabolic syndromes and is associated with nutrient deficiencies which could lead to the development of anemia. Therefore, this study aimed to assess the consumption of nutrients compared to the worldwide dietary guidelines among children and adolescents who suffer from the problem of obesity in Greece. Interestingly, the results showed that the consumption of vegetables, fruits, and fish was lower compared to the national recommendations, while the consumption of meat was very high compared to the national recommendations. What is more, it was also shown that children in Greece tend to consume more unhealthy food and beverages that contain high amounts of sugar. Therefore, the study found that the majority of obese children and adolescents follow an unhealthy diet and therefore the key recommendation was to apply measures that not only can prevent but also treat obesity and more importantly change the behavior of these individuals (Georgiou et al, 2022).

Childhood obesity has increased rapidly in the last decade as recent data have shown; specifically, 1 in 4 Greek children aged 7 to 10 years display issues with obesity and overweight as well. In the past decade, there has been a serious issue of malnutrition, based on current data that came out from new research conducted by the Department of Nutrition and Dietetics of ATEI Thessaloniki and the Hellenic Medical Society for Obesity with the COSI program of the World Health Organization for childhood obesity. This program started after an agreement between the Ministers of Health of Europe and was attended by 15 countries of the European Union and Greece and is going to be repeated every two years.

In this research for Greece, which started in November 2010 until March 2011, 150 schools took part, ie a total of 5,679 students of the second and fourth grades of primary school, aged 7-8 and 9-10, in which their weight, height and waist circumference were measured. At the end of the study, results for elementary school students showed that 23.03% of children could be described

as overweight and 13.65% of them were obese. In boys, the percentage of overweight was 21.85% and of obese at 14.18% while in girls, the percentages were 24, 26%, and 13.09%, respectively. In the second group of fourth graders, the rates of obesity increased, as 28.87% of students were found as overweight while 13.42% were considered obese. Boys had larger percentages, as 29.88% are overweight and 14.04% obese compared to girls where the percentages are 27.96% and 12.87%, respectively. In comparison to the above research, previous studies have discovered a marked increase in the prevalence of childhood obesity compared to current data. At this point, it important to be underlined that the studies that were concerned with the prevalence of childhood obesity in Greece in the past (Mamalakis & Kafatos, 1996; Krassas et al., 2001; Karayannis et al., 2003) included a large sample of children.

Going even deeper, in a study conducted by Krassas et al. (2001), the participants were 2458 children aged 6 to 17 years from Thessaloniki. The results showed clearly that 25.3% of children aged 6-10 years were overweight, while 5.6% were obese and 19% of children aged 11-17 years were discovered as overweight, while 2.6% were found as obese. Still, 19.1% of all girls were overweight while 3.2% were obese. As for the boys, it was found that 25.9% of them were overweight, while 5.1% were obese. Finally, 22.2% of all children were found once more as overweight, while around 4.1% of them were obese.

In the study of Mamalakis and Kafatos (1996), 1046 children aged 6-12 years participated from the Greek island of Crete. The criterion for classifying children as overweight and obese was the 85th and 95th percentiles of growth curves, respectively. The result was similar to the previous studies because 24% of boys were found as overweight and 8.2% were considered obese. As for the girls, the outcomes discovered that 19.2% of them were overweight and 5% could be characterized as obese.

Karagiannis and his colleagues estimated the prevalence of obesity and overweight in a representative sample which included around 4299 children aged 11-16 years from all over Greece. The results were based on self-reported height and weight data. The IOTF BMI limit values showed that 9.1% of girls and 21.7% of boys surveyed were overweight, while 2.5% of boys and 1.2% of girls were overweight. Based on the CDC 2000 BMI limit values, the rates for the overweight are 18.8% for boys and 8.1% for girls, while 5.8% of boys and 1.7% of girls were

obese (Karayiannis et al., 2003). To finish, the research concluded that the BMI of Greek children has been rising at a fast pace.

Farajian et al. (2013) in their research revealed the socio-demographic effects of obesity in Greece. Therefore, they studied 2,315 children aged 10-12 years from all Greek regions. At these ages, the percentage of overweight and obese boys was 29.9% and 12.9%, while for girls it was 29.2% and 10.6%, respectively. The results concluded that the percentage of overweight and obese children was pretty higher compared to the findings of other Greek surveys. Looking at the gender aspect, the results agreed with those of other European countries, and more precisely boys had higher prevalence rates of obesity than girls. Only 3% of children followed the principles of the Mediterranean Diet. Children with a high KIDMED score had a healthier diet because they eat more fruits, vegetables, dairy, fish, bread, and nuts, while at the same time, they had higher levels of physical activity.

It is noteworthy to be said that, they tended to consume red meat more often than the recommendations of the Mediterranean model suggest. The explanation for that was that Greek parents coerce their children to eat more red meat during the week to keep their iron levels at the right level. From 2001 to 2004, it was discovered that the prevalence of overweight and obesity was 53% and 20% in adult men and 31% and 15% in adult women (Panagiotakos et al., 2004). In addition, the same study showed that the prevalence of obesity was even higher as the age factor was increasing especially for men older than 40 and women between 50 and 59; What is more, the prevalence was linked to unfavorable lifestyle choices, low education, and so on. Koukoulis et al. (2010) in their research found that the rates of overweight and obesity were quite high (39.4% & 26.6%, respectively) in individuals aged 18-79 who lived in Thessaly, which constitutes a large region found in Central Greece. A recent study in older Greek adults (i.e., >65yo) also found that there is a connection between osteoporosis in these populations and obesity and reduced muscle mass and strength, phenomena which result in a lower lifetime functionality (Keramidaki et al., 2019).

The Toy-Box research indicated that a variety of family factors could determine the eating habits of preschool children. Specifically, the factors that affect the daily consumption of snacks by children are a) the educational level of their parents and b) how often the parents themselves consume snacks on a daily basis. Regarding the first factor (parent's level of education) the high

educational level of parents or guardians is positively related to the daily consumption of snacks by children. In particular, children whose parents had completed more than 14 years of education were 2.04 times more likely to consume daily snacks. Similarly, the eating habits of parents or guardians, and more precisely the daily consumption of snacks, are also positively associated with the appearance of the same eating behavior by children. This is due to the mimetic behavior that children have towards their parents and also children at this age perceive their parents as a rolemodel.

Significant differences in children's eating habits were observed in Germany and Belgium. In those countries, children reduced the unhealthy savory and sweet snacks respectively. The implemented intervention seemed to have an impact on increasing the amount of water and reducing the number of other beverages (packaged juices and beverages with added sugar) in the entire sample of children. However, the changes observed in the previous two parameters didn't bring the expected results, especially in reducing significantly the number of children who were obese or overweight in the countries surveyed (Manios et al., 2012).

## 4. Effects and complications of obesity

The existence of weight issues in childhood is a multifactorial disease, which can cause devastating results. The effects of childhood obesity can be short-lived, but can also occur after adulthood (Ebbeling et al., 2002). The overweight effects do not differ so much between children and adults, while it is crucial to recognize the problem of being overweight as soon as possible and ideally in childhood (Shils & Shike, 2006).

#### 4.1. Short-term effects

These effects occur within the duration of pre-early life and youth. These effects affect systems such as the respiratory, cardiovascular, musculoskeletal, endocrine, gastrointestinal, and neurological, but mainly, the psychological field (Ebbeling et al., 2002; Dietz and Robinson, 2005).

#### 4.2. Long-term effects

Studies have shown that being overweight during adolescence is a very good indicator of adult obesity. Preschool children aged 4-6 have a 50% chance of becoming obese in adulthood, at a rate of 70-80% (WHO, 2000). In the USA, the Bogalusa Heart Study found that this risk increases with a child's BMI, and as he or she grows older, so does the risk of obesity in adulthood. The study found that increased BMI between children of 2-5 years old, is associated with adult obesity (Freedman et al., 2004).

#### 4.3. Childhood obesity and diabetes

Insulin resistance is the key risk for developing type 2 diabetes. The reason for being so important is that over 25% of obese or overweight children may develop insulin resistance (Sinha et al., 2002). In addition, the racial or ethnicity criterion to which the child or adolescent belonged, according to a study by the American Diabetes Organization, seemed to play a role, as there were different rates of juvenile type 2 diabetes in adolescents of different races and nationalities, ranging from 6% for non-Hispanic whites up to 22% for Native Americans. At the same time, regardless of racial groups and nationalities, more than 90% of cases of type 2 diabetes were overweight or obese (Ogden et al., 2007).

Moreover, recent studies showed that the medical consequences in pediatric patients also entail the appearance of type 2 diabetes. Furthermore, the prevalence of diabetes varies depending on how serious is the problem of obesity and on the age of the child. Additionally, individuals who get type 2 diabetes during adolescence showed to have worse glycaemic control and many health complications like hypertension and dyslipidemia (Fitzgerald et al, 2019). However, all health issues related to childhood obesity are fully reversible if they are treated nonetheless some continue to have negative health consequences during their adulthood (Fitzgerald et al, 2019).

#### 4.4. Childhood obesity and cardiovascular diseases

Studies show that obese children have an increased risk of cardiometabolic syndrome which included increased blood pressure, low levels of high-density lipoprotein, and high levels of triglycerides. Furthermore, echocardiographic findings show hypertrophy of the left heart chamber or ventricle and an increase in left ventricle artery diameter. These can result in the dysfunction of diastolic and systolic blood pressure (Corica et al., 2018).

Furthermore, weight loss could benefit the cardiovascular system by decreasing all the risk factors. Also, studies found that weight loss decreases a lot the risk of CVD mortality by 40% even after 20 years of that weight loss (Li, et al, 2014).

One of the epidemiological studies related to serious risk factors of cardiovascular disease in childhood and overweight is the conducted Bogalusa Heart Study, which was conducted in the USA (Freedman et al., 2004). According to it, it was found that 204 children who died from various causes displayed atherosclerotic lesions in the aorta and coronary arteries. This means that the risk of heart disease started at a much younger age (Must &Strauss, 1999).

Prospective research went a step further by discovering that the levels of serum lipids and lipoproteins in young adults are almost the same as in childhood and thus allow them to observe these levels for later adulthood (Boutelle et al., 2007). Relatedly, Ebbeling et al. (2002) showed that English overweight adolescents had more chances (almost twice as likely) to find death from an ischemic attack after the age of 57.

#### 4.5. Childhood obesity and hormonal disorders

In young girls and adolescents, the problem of obesity along with other weight issues have been related to the early onset of menstruation. There is an inversely proportional relationship between weight and menstrual age, as the heavier the weight, the later the onset of menstruation (Freedman et al., 2003; Daniels et al., 2004). Another side-effect of obesity that developed at a very young age is polycystic ovary syndrome, whose prevalence, like childhood hypertension, seem to increase to a great extent with the rise in obesity rates in children. Sex hormone disorders especially in girls who deal with obesity issues and adolescents could lead to a premature onset syndrome linked directly with hyperandrogenism and conditions such as amenorrhea or irregular menstrual cycles (Dietz &Robinson, 2005).

Weight gain is found to be associated with endocrine disorders in pediatric patients. Particularly, food that contains a significant amount of sugar has also a higher glycaemic index which results in much faster insulin secretion, a hormone that has a known anabolic impact (Liberali et al., 2020). Moreover, a meta-analysis showed that most pediatric patients, who have endocrine disorders, present a tendency to gain weight and have hypogonadism. Finally, endocrine disorders can lead to weight gain which also can be caused either by the use of endogenous or exogenous corticosteroid treatment (McKelvey et al, 2019).

#### 4.6. Musculoskeletal problems

Studies show that obese children population can have serious musculoskeletal issues, which affect negatively their health and cause impairment to individual's mobility. It has also been shown to cause bone fractures, low back pain as well as joint pain (Lin and Li, 2021).

Musculoskeletal problems are related to being overweight and obese since they cause complications and problems in the muscles, tendons, and bones. The joints absorb more pressure, especially those of the lower extremities because they are responsible for supporting the whole body (Ebbeling et al., 2002).

#### 4.7. Psychosocial effects

Children who suffer from obesity issues have more chances to develop psychological and psychiatric problems than those of normal weight. Girls who are both overweight and obese, have more chances to develop mental problems than boys and this risk increases with age (Cole et al., 2000; Kumar et al, 2016). In developed countries, the psychosocial effects of childhood obesity could affect negatively the social future and social interactions of those children. Aside from the difficulties in the social milieu, obese women who were obese in their childhood or while they were adolescents, had few chances to pursue pursuing higher education after finishing basic school education (Strauss and Pollack, 2003).

## 5. Management and treatment

#### 5.1. Dietary control

Besides the pharmacological treatment, lifestyle modifications are still strongly recommended for weight loss even in pediatric patients. Specifically, obese patients but also children can reduce up to 10% of their body weight if they follow a diet pattern, which will be supported with physical activity and behavioral therapy. Furthermore, if the diet is controlled, it

can be rather beneficial to the loss of weight (Nguyen and Clements, 2017). Undoubtedly, the final choice of food is determined by the individual, therefore every State needs to implement laws, which limit access to unhealthy food. In that way, access to healthier food would be more difficult. Such policies could also aim to reduce the development of foods that contain sugar and fat. Finally, advertisements should promote and educate citizens about healthier food choices, which can help the loss of body weight and improve the cardiovascular system (Lal et al, 2020).

Obese and overweight children are recommended to follow a diet that can assist them to maintain the appropriate weight in accordance with their age. In extreme cases when children can be classified as third-degree obesity and have developed serious health problems, then a hypocaloric balanced diet can be the solution. However, all dietary interventions suggest several corrections in eating habits and calorie reduction. Diets usually suggest the reduction of fat intake and the increase of fiber intake. Also, when children are in the process of development, their diet must be balanced because it remains important to provide kids with the necessary calories and nutrients for their development. An important intervention used by many experts in the field is the so-called traffic light diet, which was invented by Epstein and his colleagues. It is a diet in which foods are proposed to be divided into three colors: red means "stop", yellow means "continue carefully", while green means "go ahead", depending on their content of fat and simple carbohydrates. Thus, the number of portions that children eat for each light color is calculated and the calories consumed are calculated (Epstein et al., 1998). However, undesirable outcomes of such diets need to be taken into account; for instance, low-calorie diets with high protein content could cause weight loss but can subsequently lead to vitamin deficiencies with tremendous consequences for the health of the child (Zampelas, 2003).

#### 5.2. Physical activity

Moreover, life modifications have been proven to be beneficial for the patient. Particularly, integrating long-term physical activity showed that in many cases the loss of body weight can confine significantly the possibility of cardiovascular diseases (Nguyen and Clements, 2017).

In parallel, researchers suggest long-term systematic exercise programs, so that there are noticeable changes in daily activities (e.g., walking, playing, cycling, taking the stairs, dancing). Lifestyle changes can bring effective improvements, particularly for children are effective for children because usually are more easily applicable in their lives. Within this framework, interventions should target reducing sedentary activities. Reducing these kinds of sedentary activities like watching the TV or playing computer games, is more desirable in children because children need to invest their time differently for instance to do a sport or another physical activity (Epstein et al., 1994; Wyszyńska et al., 2020). Furthermore, physical activity can reduce excessive body mass in the pediatric population.

Moreover, studies show that less than 20% of children and adolescent worldwide population participates in physical activity. Given this, it is rather obvious that decreased physical activity contributes to obesity among children. Quite recently (2016), it was found that almost 40 million children aged 5 y/o were suffering from obesity. What is more, a meta-analysis in Southern Europe found that around 40% of children aged 10 y/o and 10% in the Northern EU were obese which was caused by not exercising (Wyszyńska et al., 2020).

#### 5.3. Behaviour Modification / Behavioural Theory

Studies underline the key role of parents who can change dramatically their children's behavior and prevent obesity. Such behavioral interventions from parents involve nutrition education and parenting strategies that promote physical activity and provide their children with a balanced diet. Furthermore, a study showed that children have a higher risk of becoming obese if their parents are obese too (Ash et al, 2017). Therefore, the majority of intervention strategies emphasized parents since their habits have a greater impact on their children (Ash et al, 2017).

The purpose of behavioral therapy is to enable obese people to understand how they behave not only when they have to follow a diet but also when they need to exercise. A key aspect in the whole process is the mental ability of those individuals to resist as much as possible to the impulsive consumption of. Behavioral therapy is based on the principle of learning. Since the 1960s, behavior therapy has been a preferable treatment for obesity in the United States. Initially, it included the recording of dietary habits and several techniques for controlling the eating behavior of the individual. Compared to the past, the new programs pay attention to the nutritional training of the overweight as well as to the strengthening of their physical activity. The same programs also include multiple ways of social support and cognitive behavioral techniques designed for obese individuals to maintain the goal of weight loss over a long time. Behavioral therapy offers significant help when there are behavioral disorders. At this point, there will be a very brief analysis of the most important techniques used to change behavior and applied in obesity treatment protocols which are in grosso modo: mobilization, setting realistic goals, monitoring, reinforcement/reward, stimulus control, problem-solving, alternatives, relapse prevention, angle. Behavioral therapy strategies include the recording of dietary habits (self-monitoring), nutrition education, nutritional behavior control techniques (stimulus control), cognitive therapeutic techniques, and social support for the obese (WHO, 2000).

#### 5.4 Body mass index

Body mass index (BMI) is an indicator of the percentage of fat in the human body and is calculated in kg/m<sup>2</sup>. The BMI can find application not only at the individual level but also at the population level. It is pointed out that using only the body mass index to categorize a person about his/her weight is extremely unsafe and requires special attention. Therefore, BMI should not be used as an individual diagnostic method. It is, however, the first indication that provides basic information regarding a person's weight. Given this, it is important to evaluate the information obtained from the BMI with certain other characteristics to draw a safer conclusion. Furthermore, BMI is calculated by dividing someone's weight by their height. It also provides a reasonable indication regarding someone's health (Mbogori et al, 2020).

Moreover, BMI is associated with fat mass and this fat mass is measured via a very specific method in the general population. However, it needs to be stressed here that the BMI can be sometimes unreliable at the individual level. This can be better explained when two individuals with the same BMI can appear a very different fat mass. Therefore, a value that is above or below the standard value may not define their normality; for example, in children, overweight and obesity are calculated by comparing individual BMIs to reference values. Thus, mistakes can occur such as someone can overrate fat mass in a young person while for an older person to underestimate his/her fat mass. Another example that can be seen is the case of an athlete who can maintain a high BMI but low-fat mass and at the same time can be considered obese (Cui et al, 2016).

At the population level, however, BMI is a relatively reliable and extremely low-cost indicator regarding the classification of individuals as underweight, normal, overweight, and obese, respectively. BMI is an indicator for calculating obesity in adults, adolescents, and children. This method considers both height and weight and is suitable for measuring overweight and its

limits, as defined by the International Obesity Task Force (IOFT). BMI is obtained when someone divides the weight of a given person measured in kilograms by the square of his/her height which is also measured in meters: BMI = WEIGHT (kg) / HEIGHT X HEIGHT (m). The BMI of a given person is then compared to the BMI distribution for children aged 2-20, to be finally characterized as underweight, healthy, overweight, or obese.

The use of BMI is a simple and easy process for categorizing risk children – and adults – into various categories such as underweight, normal weight, overweight and obese. Moreover, the same formula applies to both men and women. BMI is an economical method, which can be repeated several times to determine the validity of the result. The disadvantage is that the aforementioned method does not provide data regarding the distribution of fat that exists in the human body. Thus, the values that experts have in their hands by BMI vary considerably in children, as the height of children is constantly changing (Poskitt& Edmunds, 2008).

BMI for children but also adolescents aged 2-20 is measured with the usage of the same mathematical formula used for adults, but the results are interpreted differently. More specifically, children are not classified according to the BMI value per se, but the value of a child's BMI is compared to the BMI values of other children who are found of the same age and sex. Children are then classified into percentiles based on BMI which has been substantially standardized for gender and age (Status, 1995; Longe, 2008); according to the CDC: underweight is considered a kid found in less than the 5th percentile, healthy weight is considered a kid found in the 5th percentile, overweight is a kid who is found in the85th percentile to less than 95th percentile, and finally obese is a kid who equals to or greater than 95th percentile.

In this way, using the various percentages is a possible way to compare the weight of a child with the population of children who have the same sex and age. According to the World Health Organization, the categories in which children are classified are the following: underweight children: BMI <5 cm, normal children: 5 cm  $\leq$  BMI <85 cm, overweight children: 85 cm  $\leq$  BMI <95 cm, obese children: BMI  $\geq$  95 percent. Classifying children in percentiles based on BMI has been substantially standardized for gender and age to assess whether a child is overweight or obese is not only a reliable, economical, and non-invasive method but also provides an internationally-recognized definition of childhood obesity. This is very important, as it allows the comparison of the results of different studies on childhood obesity (Status, 1995).

The anthropometric assessment of children is a more complex process than that of adults, because changes in body composition (height, weight), which are constantly changing in childhood, must be considered. One of the indicators for evaluating body composition in children is BMI. As said before, this indicator is a rather simple, inexpensive, reliable, and safe indicator, used in epidemiological and clinical research. For its interpretation, care is required for parameters such as age, sex, and race of the population group, so that the categorization of children based on body fat gives reliable and valid results. In essence, BMI constitutes a valuable screening tool, which recognizes potential weight problems in children but is not a diagnostic tool. Thus, if a child has a high BMI for his/her age and gender, additional assessments should be made to determine if body fat is a problem, such as skin thickness measurements, dietary assessments, physical activity, and family history.

For the classification of children into the four categories of underweight, normal, overweight, and obese, reference criteria have been used, such as a) the reference percentages which were based on the NHANES I study and recommended by WHO, b) the CDC growth curves for the USA which are aimed exclusively at American population groups, and c) development charts, which present international BMI limit values for boys and girls aged 2-18. Percentages are the most commonly used indicator for assessing children's development. After calculating the BMI, the values are represented graphically in the growth curves for boys and girls, which acquire a percentage ranking. The percentages indicate the relative position in respect of a child's BMI value among other children of the same sex and age, while growth curves express the categories of body weight (fat, normal, overweight, obese). Growth Curves for ages 0-18 are used to assess the growth rate of infants, children, and adolescents. Growth curves show us if certain growth variables (weight, height, or BMI) of the child move in normal frames. These are graphs that summarize quickly the changes in the weight or height or BMI of a particular population depending on its age and refer to percentages of a specific weight or height for a certain age. Normal values for a certain age are extracted from the growth curves and are based on a specific price range. Each country has its unique growth curves which are following the growth rate of its population.

In the development curves of the BMI regarding children and adolescents (2-20 years old), as already outlined, the CDC has added the 85th position as a limiting point for identifying people at risk ("at risk") to become overweight. When a child has a BMI with values between the 85th and 95th percentile should be treated carefully for reaching the secondary complications of obesity,

such as hypertension and dyslipidemia. When we look at children older than 7 years and their BMI is between 85 and 95 given that they do not have secondary complications of obesity then prolonged weight maintenance can be an achievable goal. Nevertheless, weight loss is suggested for children of the above age with a BMI between the ages of 85 and 95, who do not have severe secondary complications of obesity. The same applies to children of the above age group, who display a BMI of 95 percent or more. A child with a bigger BMI (BMI>) from the 95th percentile of the same age and sex is characterized as "obese", while with a BMI bigger (BMI>) from the 85th percentile is characterized as "overweight" (Cole et al., 2007, 2000; Zampelas, 2003; Kuczmarski, 2002; Barlow & Dietz, 1998).

In Greece, height, weight, and BMI growth curves for boys and girls, aged 6-16 years were analyzed by Kafatos et al. (1997). Although the latter research reached an underestimation of the real prevalence of overweight and obesity in children (average age  $11.42 \pm 3.51$  years), in comparison with the international IOTF and CDC BMI limit values for overweight and obese children. Both used standards of IOTF and CDC, which are independent of each other, detected an increased number of children who were overweight and obese. Under any circumstances, the above standards are appropriate for early diagnosis and intervention in clinical medicine (Christoforidis et al., 2011).

WHO as an Organization has defined obesity as the condition in which there is a very high-fat accumulation. This accumulation can cause numerous serious health consequences (WHO, 2016). According to studies, in the year 2015, it was reported that the rate of obesity in the U.S.A. was over 30% (Yang and Colditz, 2015). Moreover, a meta-analysis showed that people in the USA started gaining weight when they were found at a very young age. Finally, children with obesity demonstrate around 50% greater risk of being obese when they will be adults in comparison to 10% of children who had normal weight (Yang and Colditz, 2015).

## Figure 1



Summary regarding the prevalence of the phenomenon of obesity in Europe during the period 1991-2003



The prevalence of obesity in Europe

#### Figure 2

U.S. obesity prevalence(2015.) **Source**. Figure adapted from Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/obesity/data/prevalence-maps.html.

## 6. Food and health

#### 6.1. Nutrition

During the last few years there is a rush for a low-fat diet has resulted in the shelves being filled with products "unloaded" from fats but loaded with sugar. Each of us ends up consuming unbelievable amounts of "hidden" sweeteners, as a result of which the consumer becomes addicted to these flavors. It is impossible to taste a product when it is deprived of some of its basic substances such as fats. But it is possible to flavor a product by adding sugar and artificial sweeteners. The more the consumers look for sweetened foods, the more the food industry adds sugar to processed products and the problem swells. Many children are growing up creating facing a massive problem of obesity thus possibly increasing the rates of diabetes and heart disease.

Sugar is the best-known representative of oligosaccharides. It is contained in sugar cane, sugar beets, and fruits. When isolated from its sources and consumed in the form offered by modern industrial production, it does not give the body a trace of minerals (potassium, calcium, sodium, iron, magnesium, phosphorus) and vitamins, unlike unprocessed sugar, such as is brown or brown sugar, which contains traces of them. Sugar mainly provides the body with energy (calories). 1 teaspoon of sugar contains 25 calories. Consistent with the American Heart Association, there is advice for children aged between 2-18 years, to eat less than 25 grams, or approximately 6 teaspoons of added sugar each day. All the previous recommendations are grounded on the examination of the effects that added sugars cause on children's health and more precisely on cardiovascular function, blood pressure, diabetes, obesity, and NAFLD (non-alcoholic-fatty liver disease). Undoubtedly, people's preference for sweet taste has encouraged industries to design and produce a wide range of sweeteners, such as xylitol, mannitol, sorbitol, cyclamate, saccharin, and aspartame. These sweeteners have replaced sugar in a wide range of products, giving them a sweet taste, while providing 0-4 calories per gram to the body.

According to research, extremely tasty foods, which include huge quantities of fat, sugar, and salt, encourage the mind to secrete dopamine. Dopamine has a direct connection with the pleasure middle, and the feelings of well-being, and for that reason, tasty foods become almost "irresistible". There is a tendency to turn to sugar substitutes, to satisfy the desire for a sweet taste. In consequence, artificial sweeteners are used and they bring about an increase in an individual's,

weight. Although they add a sweet taste without many calories and are found in many light products and assist the gain weight.

There are such sweet substances, causing more cravings for the foods that contain them, but also for various other sweets, in the effort of one to appease this strong desire for sugar. Although they do not contain many calories, in this case, more insulin is produced and affects bodily systems (e.g., the brain; Avena et al., 2008). Foods contain in addition to the known sugar and hidden sugar (Blum et al, 2014). There is no way to hide the truth: the modern individual is eating more and more sugar now. Today, many people prefer low-fat foods and because it is common to consume a lot of products without or with little fat, we do not know that in many of these products, sugar is a substitute for fat and, in fact, "we exchange fat for sugar".

Mainly processed foods contain hidden sugar, depending on the amount contained in the food, in descending order. This means that the ingredient contained in the largest quantity (has the highest weight) is listed first and the one with the lowest weight is listed last. Sugar may be referred to by another name, while the product may contain another sweetener (fructose, glucose, sucrose, fructose, glucose, sucrose). Some of the foods that contain hidden sugar are 1. Cooking tomato juice, 2. Ketchup with 4 gr. sugar, 3. Two tablespoons of barbecue sauce contain 10 g. sugar, 4. Almost all canned foods, 5. Many of the pre-cooked foods, 6. Low-fat yogurts with fruit flavor (found to contain up to 7 teaspoons of sugar in a cup of standard yogurt), 7. Soft drinks such as cola, lemonade, orange juice, and liqueur, 8. Processed cereals, 9. Yogurt desserts, 10. It is used as a preservative in compotes, juices, 11. Frozen foods, 12. The syrup, 13. The concentrated fruit juice, 14. Some medicines (Linet et al., 2018).

Moreover, obesity can be prompted by the increased consumption of high-energy food and beverages which is a very common phenomenon, especially among children. As usual, factors such as social and economic state that are related to food supply can destroy a balanced diet (Yoo et al., 2018). Also, genetic factors that are associated with the susceptibility to fat accumulation, seem to increase the risk of getting obese, even if the diet is controlled. In addition to this, advertisements tend to promote not only foods, but also drinks that include a high amount of sugar and fats, and they tend to impact negatively the human body and mind function.

What is more, for clinical physicians, it is important to know which factors affect their patient's health, metabolism, and energy regulation. All these are needed for the effective management of obesity, especially in early age onset. Having all these data available in addition

to the patient's clinical history, a physician can give the appropriate diet advice to their patient (Obri et al., 2019).

Additionally, another factor that was studied and seems to contribute to the phenomenon of childhood obesity is snacks (chips, candies, and baked foods), which are preferred by children. Furthermore, studies suggest that this type of food contributes to childhood obesity as it tends to increase the total intake of energy. The same studies also found that portion size contributes significantly to childhood obesity. In particular, the combination of high-calorie food and a huge portion of it can drastically increase weight gain (Sahoo et al, 2015).

#### 6.2. Sweeteners in the diet

Sweeteners can take various forms (aspartame, potassium acesulfame K, cyclamic acid, and sucralose), and they can be found in a large number of foods and beverages since they replace sugar and provide few or no calories. Depending on the type of product and the desired sweetness, taste and other organoleptic ingredients (such as texture and sense of "volume"), different sweeteners or combinations of them can be traced. Just to provide some indicative examples, in products such as soft drinks, aspartame, cyclamic acid, and acesulfame-K are traditionally used, while in ice creams, biscuits, baked goods, and products in which sugar traditionally offers volume along with sweet taste, polyols (mannitol, sorbitol, xylitol). Given that, the exact amount of sweetener used in each product is not listed for commercial reasons while it is rather impossible to measure the total amount of sweetener consumed daily from different sources.

In this respect, European legislation has considered quantities and frequency of consumption of products with specific sweeteners, even by vulnerable groups of the population (children and pregnant women) or populations with high consumption of such products (diabetics). The labeling of sweeteners in the products that contain them is mandatory by law, to ensure adequate information on behalf of consumers. Also, products containing aspartame should state clearly that they are a "source of phenylalanine", because people with inherited disease phenylketonuria cannot metabolize it, while those containing polyols should state clearly that "excessive consumption may have a laxative effect".

The European Food Safety Authority (EFSA) is the body responsible for assessing food safety and advising the European Commission on all matters of food safety and consumer health. At regular intervals, EFSA re-evaluates the safety of additives (Świąder et al., 2019). In this way,

European citizens can feel somehow protects and can be aware of the products that they consume, after all.

#### 6.3. Nutrient sweeteners

#### 6.3.1. Sugars

In this category belong monosaccharides and disaccharides, which offer 4 calories/gram. More specifically, the following sugars are contained: glucose, fructose, galactose, sucrose, maltose, corn syrup, and agave nectar (derived from agave, a cactus plant) (Fitch and Keim, 2012).

#### 6.3.2. Polyols

Polyols offer an average of 2 calories/gram, however, the energy they provide varies due to differences in digestion and absorption. In nature, there are many polyols, but there is also the possibility to be produced bymonosaccharides or polysaccharides. To this category belong the polyols derived from monosaccharides: sorbitol, mannitol, xylitol, erythritol, D-tagarose. Polyols derived from disaccharides: isomaltitol, lactitol, maltitol, isomaltulose, trialose. Polyols derived from polysaccharides: starch hydrolysates, maltitol syrup, sorbitol syrup (Fitch & Keim, 2012).

#### 6.3.3. Non-nutritive sweeteners

Non-nutritive sweeteners are also called high-intensity sweeteners and include substances with a sweetness many times stronger than that of sugar (sucrose). These include acesulfame-K, aspartame, saccharin, steviol glycosides (stevia), and sucralose, ingredients that are 150 to 600 times sweeter than sugar, as well as neotame, which has a sweetening ability (7,000 to 13,000 times larger). Their sweetening power depends on their inherent sweetening ability and the amount in which they are used. Their caloric content ranges from zero to 4 calories (kcal) per gram, but in reality, all these sweeteners give practically very few calories because they are added to the products in minimal quantities. Non-nutritive sweeteners can be included in a wide range of products, such as soft drinks, dairy products, confectionery, desserts, and chewing gum. Most are still available in the form of table sweeteners which are put in drinks like tea and coffee or in other foods which are consumed widely such as cereals and fruit. The European Food Safety Authority

(EFSA) is charged with the evaluation of non-nutritive sweeteners while sets also the level of acceptable intake on a daily basis and more broadly examines emerging data on issues affecting their health (Gardner et al., 2012).

Moreover, non-nutritive sweeteners are perceived as healthy substitutes of sugar that can regulate glycaemic index and prevent diseases like type 2 diabetes. They can be an ideal solution for those who want to achieve weight loss by reducing their total calorie intake. However, studies showed that non-nutritive sweeteners can trigger hunger via the ingestion process. In that way, they can indirectly contribute to weight gain. This can be explained as the sugar substitute gets ingested, then it releases hormones that enhance the glucose transport in the intestines thus there is a secretion of insulin. Therefore, glucose concentration is reduced in the bloodstream and the feeling of hunger can be activated. So the individual can gain weight (Fernstrom, 2015).

According to the official position of the American Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics concerning non-nutritive sweeteners (Fitch & Keim, 2012), the most commonly used substances are Acesulfame-K which is a substance that combines organic acid and potassium. It is discharged almost intact (95%) in the urine. In that way, it does not give any energy and does not affect the potassium balance, while it is stable at baking temperatures.

Aspartame constitutes a methyl ester of the dipeptide of aspartic acid and phenylalanine. Aspartame gives 4 calories/gram, while the amount of sweetness it offers, allows the usage of a minimal amount to achieve the desired levels of sweetness. Aspartame is hydrolysed to aspartic acid, methanol, and phenylalanine. However, because aspartame is hydrolysed to phenylalanine in the gut, its use should be avoided in some cases, such as in people with phenylketonuria. All aspartame product packages must bear the warning that "it contains a source of phenylalanine". In dry conditions, aspartame remains stable but in solutions, it can degrade with the necessary heating. The pace of degradation depends on pH and temperature.

Cyclamic acid and its salts, sodium, and calcium, are powerful sweeteners (WHO, 2010). The use of cyclamic acid is acceptable in Europe, but not in the US, as one study showed that the saccharin / cyclamic acid mixture was associated with the development of tumors in rats.

Saccharin is the oldest sweetener accepted for use in food and beverages. However, it is not metabolized in the body. It is widely used, often in combination with other sweeteners.

Steviol glycosides are derived from the plant Stevia rebaudiana. They have a sweet taste in the usual amounts; however, they may have a bitter taste in larger ones. They are stable and more
stable than aspartame or acesulfame-K. Steviol glycosides also offer the advantage of being exclusively plant-based. Finally, they could serve as a phenylalanine-free sweetener for people with phenylketonuria.

Sucralose is a disaccharide. About 85% of the sucralose taken up by the body cannot be absorbed and is discarded almost intact in the faeces. The same applies when it is absorbed, it is also discarded unchanged in the urine. Finally, it is heat stable while baking and cooking.

## 6.4. The price of Acceptable Daily Intake

Under European law, the food and beverage industry is required to use only approved sweeteners. The legislation also determines the products in which each sweetener can be used, as well as the maximum amount of each sweetener per product category. The evaluation of their safety, as for any food additive, is based on the available toxicological data. An essential part of the evaluation process is the determination of an Acceptable Daily Intake (ADI) value for each sweetener, which is the maximum amount of the specific additive that one can take each day and for the rest of his/her life without his/her health to be endangered. The ADI value, which is unique for each supplement, is expressed in mg of the supplement per kilogram of body weight per day (mg/kg/day). It covers the population including groups, such as pregnant women, diabetics, and children, and appears to have a large margin of safety. Consumption studies in European countries discovered that the consumption of sweeteners is much lower than the corresponding ADI values even in populations with the highest consumption. In general lines, sweeteners used in the EU and all food additives, have been evaluated and approved by the global body responsible, namely the Joint Committee on Food of the World Health Organization and the Food and Agriculture Organization (JEFCA WHO / FAO) (Abdel Rahman et al., 2018).

## 6.5. Health

Sugars, like starch, are carbohydrates. Sugars are found in various forms, such as sucrose, fructose, lactose, and glucose. All forms have a sweet taste. Sucrose is a common table sugar, a product of industrial production from sugar cane and beets, and is used in beverages, baked goods, and the confectionery industry. Fructose is found in fruits and honey, while lactose is found in milk. Glucose is the simplest form of sugar and is a component of other sugars. Table sugar, for

example, is made up of glucose and fructose. Glucose is also the building block of starch. Starch is the main source of carbohydrates found in bread, pasta, potatoes, rice, and cereals. Glucose is the form of sugar that circulates in the blood. It is often referred to as "blood sugar" and supplies the body with energy. Frequent exposure of teeth to sugar in large quantities, and for a long time, increases the risk of tooth decay in children. Typical sugar sources are soft drinks, sweets, candies, and juices. Foods that are rich in added sugar are excessive in calories and low in other nutrients such as protein, vitamins, minerals, and fiber. That is, they contain "empty calories" and replace other more nutritious foods in the daily diet. Also, the sweet taste causes pleasure, and as a result, individuals seek even greater consumption (Wang et al, 2015).

Overconsumption of sugar can lead to overweight and obesity, only if the calories we consume are more than what we "burn". Foods that are rich in sugar and beverages contain a high amount of calories and fat, so we run the risk of exceeding our recommended intake. In particular, people who are in favor of sugary drinks, usually tend to overeat because they cannot control their appetite. Consumption of such drinks contributes to childhood obesity. Many people believe that overeating sugar can lead to diabetes. This is not right. Diabetes is not the result of a single factor but it appears due to a mix of genetic and environmental factors. Nevertheless, if someone is overweight, then he/she is more exposed to type 2 diabetes. People who suffer from any type of diabetes should abstain from sugar because its rapid absorption by the digestive tract can cause a very quick rise in blood sugar. This sharp rise cannot be controlled by people with diabetes. A great number of studies have concluded that people without diabetes who consume many sweets, tend to present a higher value concerning body mass index and waist perimeter.

In a similar vein, people who consume a lot of sugary soft drinks have increased insulin levels, when they have eaten absolutely nothing. When an individual consumes food in the recommended quantities, there is no risk of overconsumption. There is a danger when an individual often consumes in large quantities foods that contain added sugar. Examples of such foods are sweets and pastes, candies, soft drinks, juices (when they are not 100% natural), but also jams, and jellies. Sugar, when consumed in moderation, can be part of a balanced diet. Special attention must be paid to food labels because only in that way the individual will be able to avoid consuming products that contain large amounts of sugar. When the sugars in the food are more than 15% of the total carbohydrates, then the food at hand is rich in sugar. When it is below 5%, then the food at hand contains low sugar. It is also important to control the overall amount of food consumed.

Thus, foods that are rich in sugar, it is good to be consumed in small quantities. Some examples of sugars on food labels are the next ones: glucose, dextrose, fructose, corn or inverted syrup, raw or brown sugar, sweet syrup glucose syrup, maltose, hydrolysed starch (Razzaque, 2020).

#### 6.6. Natural Sugars vs Additives

Classic table sugar is often added to processed foods (added sugars) to improve the taste. The scientific name for sugar is sucrose. After consumption, it is rapidly broken down into glucose and fructose, without being accompanied by the release of beneficial nutrients. So, foods that are rich in added sugars give "empty calories", the absorption is very fast by the body increasing the feeling of hunger, but also blood sugar. That is why the consumption of sugar increases body weight and the development of some diseases like cardiovascular diseases, diabetes, and so on. Natural sugars are contained in unprocessed foods. In simple carbohydrates, they are contained in fruit juices, honey, and syrups, while the more complex carbohydrates appear along with proteins, fiber, vitamins, minerals, and others. Complex carbohydrates are made up of large chains of sugar molecules and are broken down in the body at a slower rate. This means that they do not raise blood sugar sharply and give the feeling of satiety. Such foods are fruits and vegetables, milk and yogurt, legumes, and so on. These unprocessed foods are useful for our diet, because of their high nutritional value and beneficial effect on our health, even if they include (naturally) sugars.

The World Health Organization has set some recommendations to reduce the free sugar intake to 10% of daily energy. Equally, some other institutions, such as the European Society of Pediatric Gastroenterology, Hepatology and Nutrition (ESPGAN) suggested that the intake of added sugar should be lower under 2 years of age (Fidler et al., 2017).

Free sugars are simple carbohydrates, ie monosaccharides (e.g., glucose, fructose) and disaccharides (e.g., sucrose or sugar) and they are added to food and beverages (eg in our homes, from the food industry, confectionery workshops, etc) or are naturally contained in foods, such as natural fruit juices, honey, and syrups. By avoiding processed foods, beverages, and soft drinks, it is easier for someone to reduce the intake of free sugars. It is also critical to emphasize the consumption of natural sugars, which can be derived from fruits, vegetables, and legumes (Holistic Health, 2019).

A very large part of the general population does not cook at home and prefers to buy ready meals or standard foods. As a result, the daily intake of sugar is particularly high. In the United States, added sugar in food reaches 17% of the total calories that adults receive, while in children arrives at 14%. However, the authorities are sounding the alarm to bring the number below 10%. The scientific community is certain that sugar consumption is responsible for obesity along with other chronic diseases, such as diabetes. At this point, there will be a summary of the basic problems that sugar causes to our health without realizing it. Obesity rates worldwide are growing. The added sugar found mainly in soft drinks and packaged sweets is one of the main culprits. Juices, cola drinks, iced tea, and energy drinks are loaded with fructose, a type of simple sugar. Fructose consumption assists in the opening of appetite for food, more than the consumption of glucose. Glucose is dominant in starchy foods (e.g., White, 2018). Moreover, the consumption of a high level of fructose may create resistance to the hormone "leptin", which regulates the individual's appetite and instructs the body to stop eating (Shapiro et al., 2008).

Simply put, sugary and soft drinks do not quench your hunger. Those drinks induce the individual to consume more calories (mainly in liquid form) and to gain weight. From various studies, it has become evident that individuals who buy and consume sugary drinks (soft drinks and juices) weigh much more compared to those who avoid those drinks. Consumption of sugary drinks is also associated with increased visceral fat in the middle zone and individuals have a great risk of developing diabetes and heart problems (Ma et al., 2014).

Foods in combination with beverages that contain added sugar have a high glycaemic index. When an individual consumes these products, he/she experiences an increase in blood sugar and insulin levels. However, the increase in energy levels is hard to pin down in products and foods that are full of sugar but they do not contain proteins, fats, or fiber and therefore they give instant energy and immediately after cause a rapid drop in blood sugar. A sudden drop in blood sugar has several side effects such as psychological transitions, intense hunger, cravings, and gluttony. Indeed, frequent fluctuations in blood sugar levels directly affect the energy levels of a given individual (Jocelyn et al, 2020).

Even high consumption of fructose via fruits can be the culprit for the development of metabolic syndrome such as obesity. This can raise a concern since fructose represents more than 50% of added sugar. Moreover, some studies endorse the view that free fructose can cause adverse effects on metabolism. However, it is crucial to be mentioned that those studies used a very high dose of fructose and this explains the detrimental results that they provided. On the other hand, moderate consumption of fructose does not harm someone's metabolism which leads to the

conclusion that fructose can only be detrimental to health if it is over-consumed (Evans et al., 2017).

A recent article published in April 2022 reviewed research on the effects of excessive intake of SSBs, noting that there are currently no available epidemiological and clinical studies in children that indicate only the effects of fructose because it is not consumed alone and is quickly removed from circulation, and cannot be properly evaluated. However, epidemiological studies have proven that the consumption of SSBs affects the consumption of fructose and glucose and acts synergistically to cause problems such as cardiovascular disease. (Giussani et al., 2022).

Another research, which was published in 2017 by the American Society of Gastroenterology regarding a population consisting of Latino and African-American children (aged 8-18 years) with obesity and metabolic syndrome since they consumed >15% sugar and >5% fructose, showed that the imposition of a short-term restriction had a positive effect on reducing liver fat, visceral adipose tissue, de novo lipogenesis and kinetics of insulin in obese children.(Schwarz et al.,2017).

Another pilot study in children 5-8 years found that a 12-week intervention to reduce completely fructose-sucrose-glucose, managed to decrease BMI and BMI-SDS by 0.68 kg/m2 and 0.21 at the end of the week, and BMI-SDS was lower than baseline, while only BMI decreased p=0.08. (Maier Ina et al., 2010).

In addition, the was also a very recent study (2017), which focused on the effect of restricting foods high in fructose corn syrup in 54 children (aged 6-11 years), who suffered from obesity in relation to metabolic markers and fatty liver showed that restricting foods high in fructose and the overall reduction in calorie and carbohydrate intake at 6 weeks did not result in weight loss, but reduced levels of triglycerides and hepatic steatosis. (Ibarra-Reynoso et al., 2017).

Other similar studies have compared the effects of natural sweeteners when those are consumed, compared to refined sugars. The results showed that the consumption of honey which is a natural sweetener can improve metabolism and reduce the risk of weight gain. Moreover, maple and agave syrup can improve the homeostasis of glucose compared to the consumption of sucrose (Nemoseck et al., 2011). Additionally, natural sweeteners contain other substances, which can be beneficial for metabolic health. Such molecules include minerals and polyphenols, which also have antioxidant effects (St-Pierre et al., 2014).

If an individual prefers to avoid this energy swamp, he/she should opt for sweet unprocessed carbohydrates that contain fiber such as fruit – but always in moderation (for a review, see Sharma et al., 2016). It would be good to never eat a dessert alone on an empty stomach. It would be good to eat something that contains protein. This will stabilize your blood sugar levels. One such example is the consumption of a simple apple with some almonds together. Such a snack will give the individual energy for a long time and a plethora of nutrients. Sugar may induce the risk of cardiovascular disease. A diet high in sugar is linked with the development of many diseases, such as cardiovascular disease and heart attacks. Research has shown that diets that include a high amount of sugar can easily help to gain weight or even become obese, diabetes problems, high blood pressure, chronic inflammation, and high triglycerides. The above are highrisk factors for cardiovascular problems.

An individual can have a can of cola that contains 52 grams of sugar. Those grams are equivalent to about 10% of the total calories, a person consumes in a diet of 2000 calories per day. In very simple terms, just one soft drink a day easily puts us in the high-risk group for cardiovascular problems. Consuming a large amount of sugar can increase the possibility of someone having diabetes. Globally, the number of diabetics has doubled in the last 30 years. There are several reasons for this, but the association between consuming extra sugar and type 2 diabetes is immediate. Obesity, which among other factors is linked directly with sugar and several processed carbohydrates, such as flour, constitutes still the strongest reason for the development of diabetes.

Consuming sugar for a long time leads to insulin resistance. This insulin resistance allows the increase in blood sugar levels and consequently increases the risk of diabetes. Based on a population study, which included data from 175 countries, it was discovered that the occurrence of diabetes increased by 1.1% for approximately every 150 calories of sugar taken. In brief, this is equivalent to a single can of soft drink. Other studies also concluded that individuals who drink soft drinks which contain added sugar (for instance commercial juices) have more chances to develop diabetes.

Apart from this, sugar is not so innocent because creates fat in the liver. Increased fructose consumption has in many cases been linked with the possibility to obtain a fatty liver. Unlike glucose and other simple carbohydrates utilized by several tissues in the body, fructose is completely metabolized in the liver. Afterward, fructose in the liver receives the form of energy

or is stored as glycogen. Still, it is easy to replenish liver reserves, which means that excess fructose is stored by taking the form of fat. The consumption of added sugar in the form of fructose has a detrimental effect on liver function and often leads to non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) in children, a situation in which fat accumulates in the liver organ (DiStefano & Shaibi, 2020).

What is more, sugar consumption is connected with the appearance of acne. A diet that contains a high amount of refined carbohydrates such as sugar and flour is associated with a higher risk of acne and pimples. Foods with a high glycaemic index like processed and packaged commercial sweets increase blood sugar to a great extent. This results in a sharp rise in blood insulin levels, which in turn lead to increased secretion of androgens, oiliness, and inflammation, which are directly related to acne. Studies have concluded that diets with a low glycaemic index are connected with lower rates of acne and high glycaemic index diets are associated with higher rates (for a review, see Meixiong et al., 2022). In this direction, a study of 2,300 teens found that individuals who consume added sugar regularly were 30% more likely to develop acne (Koku Aksu et al., 2011). In addition, it is important to say that several population studies have shown that in rural societies where processed foods and soft drinks are not consumed, the incidence of acne is almost negligible compared to that of large cities.

The results suggest that a diet that is fully processed foods, soft drinks, and commercial sweets directly affects the quality of the skin and could lead to the development of acne. It also increases the risk of developing depression. A diet that is full of nutrients with fruits, vegetables, and salads improves mood and psychology. Conversely, a diet high in sugar, flour, processed carbohydrates, packaged sweets, and ready-to-eat foods increases the risk of developing depression. Consumption of foods that are considered processed and with added sugar such as sweets, soft drinks, beverages, and ready-made juices seems to increase the probability of depression.

After all the conducted studies, it is currently known that eating fewer carbohydrates is associated with better skin quality and appearance. It can cause the aging of cells and tissues. Telomeres represent special structures that can be discovered at the end of chromosomes and contain all the germ material of each human being. Telomeres act as a "cap" preventing the alteration or destruction of chromosomes. As we get older the telomeres, following their nature, shrink and this leads to cellular aging and dysfunctions. This is a normal process; however, a bad lifestyle and a bad diet speed up the whole process. When we consume large amounts of sugar, degeneration, and shrinkage of telomeres have been found to accelerate, leading to cellular aging. For instance, the report of Wojcicki et al. (2018) found that excessive consumption of sugary beverages in 2-3-year-old Latino children was associated with shorter telomere length and impaired immune function, possibly as a step before obesity.

If a person consumes sugar regularly irrespective of the form of it, he/she has more chance of developing various types of cancer. In principle, a diet that is consisted of high levels of sugary foods and beverages may cause obesity, and then there is an increase in the risk of cancer. Similarly, a diet high in sugar and processed carbohydrates causes chronic inflammation in the body and can cause insulin resistance. The above-described factors augment the risk of cancer; for instance, a recent study has shown that individuals who are below the age threshold of 18 years old were at high risk for presenting cancer when they were consuming higher amounts of sugar (Debras et al., 2020).

Of course, there are other serious problems and damages that sugar can create to health. Apart from the risks and dangers that were analyzed in detail previously, the consumption of sugar can cause damage in so many different ways. Research has shown that sugar can cause the following in children: dental health problems (Chi & Scott, 2019), increased risk of gout (Johnson et al., 2013), and deterioration in cognitive and brain function, especially during critical developmental windows (Cohen et al., 2018).

The need to reduce SSD consumption by children and adolescents has led several countries to various interventions. One of these interventions is the introduction of a sugar tax, with Denmark being the first country to implement it in 1930. In 2018, the UK also decided to introduce an SSB tax, while the USA implemented a tax on sodas >10% of the price. (Giussani et al., 2022).

## 7. Determinants

## 7.1 Meaning

Determinant is the characteristic (relative, environmental, or behavioral) of individuals on which the frequency of occurrence of the studied outcome depends (relates or depends). The outcome can be the appearance of a disease, healing, or death. The literature regarding the analysis of determinants that are critical for childhood obesity is extensive, but the persistence and increase of cases of obesity require further studies. Knowledge of these determinants and their proper treatment can contribute decisively to reducing the very serious phenomenon of obesity that affects as we show not only the individual but also society, as a whole. The determinants that were identified as responsible for childhood obesity are many and the most important of them the demographic characteristics, spending too many hours in front of the TV, using very often a computer and gaming machines, existing eating habits, the presence of physical activity, sleeping habits and of course the support that exists from the family to change the unhealthy habits (Galanis & Sparos, 2012).

#### 7.2 Demographic characteristics

The most important demographic characteristics which leave a kind of 'fingerprint' on childhood obesity are the parent's body mass index, the educational level of the parents, the socioeconomic level, and the age of the mother. A parent's body mass index constitutes a very important factor to keep a child's normal weight. Obese parents have also children who are overweight or obese at a higher rate than parents with normal body mass index (Birbilis et al., 2013). In a study that took place in Greece by Farajian et al. (2013), it was argued that obese parents had 2.66 times more often obese boys and 4.13 times obese girls than parents with normal body mass index. In addition, the children who have children of obese parents are familiar with an environment that unfortunately seems to promote the consumption of high-fat foods. So children have more chances to develop childhood obesity (Burniat et al., 2006).

Additionally, other studies showed that high socioeconomic status during childhood leads to a lower risk of developing obesity. This is highly determined by their parent's occupation, education, and family income. Other factors can also contribute to the development of obesity and those include the family size and the care that the child receives from their parents. Paradoxically, a family with a low income is expected not to suffer from obesity. However, studies showed that these families tend to overconsume high-energy and processed food that is relatively cheap (Hruby et al, 2016).

The parent's educational level seems to play a role in the prevalence of childhood obesity. According to the body of literature, a negative link exists between the education of parents and the prevalence of obese children (Fernández-Alvira et al., 2013). Lien et al., (2007), conducted a study in Norway and they found that the educational level of parents is negatively connected with the gain of weight and the occurrence of obesity only in boys. Therefore, the higher the educational

level, the fewer the chances of childhood obesity. Studies have already investigated the relationship between the mother's educational level and the frequency of childhood obesity, and have concluded that increasing the maternal educational level reduces the prevalence of childhood obesity (Semmler et al., 2009). It is noted, however, that Duran-Tauleria et al., (1995) in their study in Britain found that as the mother's educational level increases, then there is also an increase in the prevalence of obesity in children. Moreover, Rona and Chinn (1982) found the opposite result, namely that the mother's educational level was not connected with obesity in children. Kromeyer-Hauschild et al. (1999) found that the father's occupation was linked to the development of childhood obesity increased. Lien et al., (2007) found that parents who exercise manual labor had more chances for their children to be overweight or obese, in comparison to the parent who had a position in the administration. Gnavi et al. (2000) found that childhood obesity occurs more often higher in families where the parents are unemployed or they are engaged in different types of manual work.

Studies in economically developed countries have found that the occurrence of childhood obesity is higher in areas with low socioeconomic status than in areas of higher socioeconomic status (El-Sayed et al., 2012). Kleiser et al. (2009) in their study which took place in Germany discovered that childhood obesity is more common in children from low socioeconomic backgrounds, even when the conditions in which they grow up are favorable, compared to children from high socioeconomic backgrounds, even if they grow up in non-ideal conditions. Navalporto et al. (2012), in another study conducted this time in Spain, supported the view that socioeconomic status is more related to the prevalence of obese children than overweight, a conclusion reached by Shrewbury and Wardle (2008). However, Sobal and Stunkard (1989) didn't manage to find a relationship between socioeconomic status and childhood obesity in developed countries. In addition, Dummer et al. (2005), discovered in their study that had as a place of conduct the city of Liverpool (England) the socio-economic level is not related to childhood obesity.

Farajian et al., (2012), found that in Greece the decrease in maternal age is associated with an increase in the occurrence of childhood obesity. This finding may be because older mothers are usually more aware of health issues. Older women are more responsive to the information they receive from health scientists about healthy eating and exercise and therefore have a positive effect on children in maintaining an ideal body mass index. Manios et al. (2018), investigated the prevalence of obese children from 6 European countries by looking at the socio-demographics and the factors that exist in the family circle. Specifically, 7554 children of preschool age took place in the study together with their parents, the weight of the children was measured, while the parents only reported it, with the help of the questionnaires, and the data was recorded. The study showed that the prevalence ranges from 10.0% in Germany to 20.6% in Greece and is higher in children with two overweight or obese parents and low socio-economic status. Childhood obesity was higher in the countries of south and Eastern Europe.

#### 7.3. Eating Habits

Firstly, meta-analysis underlines that dietary fat is the key reason for weight gain and can be developed as early as childhood. Particularly, energy intake from monosaturated and polyunsaturated fats is not related to obesity. Regarding now the intake of fats from meat and products that are rich in saturated fats is related to obesity. Other food consumption patterns that include nuts are also not associated with weight gain. The meta-analyses show clearly consumption of fast food, especially at an early age is strongly linked to the gain of weight and the development of childhood obesity. This phenomenon is more outstanding in families where both parents are working and their children visit their favorite fast-food store a dietary pattern that is both convenient and sometimes inexpensive (Pan et al, 2013).

Some studies explore the relationship between breakfast and childhood obesity and those studies have found that skipping breakfast can increase the occurrence of childhood and adolescent obesity (Van Lippevelde et al., 2013). Panagiotakos et al. (2008) found that frequent consumption of cereals at breakfast, as well as the consumption of breakfast on a daily basis, is negatively associated with the phenomenon of childhood obesity.

The frequency of meals is negatively linked to childhood and adolescent obesity (Cassimos et al., 2011). Fabry et al., (1966) were the first to search the relationship between the number of daily meals and childhood obesity and discovered that children who ate  $\leq 3$  meals a day were more prone to store fat in comparison to children who consumed 5 or 7 meals a day.

Kaisari et al. (2013) found that the most frequent daily meal intake was connected with lower BMI in children and adolescents and particularly in boys. Hammons and Fiese (2011) found that eating  $\geq$ 3 meals a week with the family helps maintain the ideal BMI both in children and

adolescents. Lehto et al. (2012) found that eating meals with the family is connected with the maintenance of normal BMI in children or even reducing it. Interestingly, Sen (2006) in his research supports the opinion that the frequency of meals with the family is inversely linked to the occurrence of overweight adolescents who are white, while he did not find a relationship in black adolescents.

Valdes et al., (2013) held a systematic review, which contained articles published from 2005 to 2012 investigating the relationship between the frequency of family meals and the incidence of obesity both in children and adolescents. The results of the systematic review were that there is little relevance and therefore further studies need to be carried out. Taveras et al., (2005) concluded the same in a study conducted in the USA regarding children aged 9-14 years. Roos et al. (2014), in a study conducted in several European countries, found that eating breakfast or dinner with the family less than once a week and watching TV during meals increases the prevalence of childhood and adolescent obesity in northern European countries, while they found no connection in the countries of southern and eastern Europe.

Studies have found that daily consumption of sugar-containing beverages plays a very important role in the increase of childhood and adolescent obesity (Denova-Gutierrez et al., 2008). Taveras et al., (2005) came to the same conclusion and stated that a diet that contains t I beverages with added sugar leads necessarily to weight gain in children. Striegel-Moore et al. (2006), in a 10-year follow-up study that included girls aged 9-10 years, found that only an increase in soft drink consumption was related to an increase in BMI. Indeed, Sichieri et al. (2008) found that reducing the consumption of sugar-containing beverages has an impact on reducing BMI, especially in girls. Studies have also searched the relationship between soft drink consumption and the occurrence of childhood and adolescent obesity and have found that the often consumption of soft drinks can also cause an increase in BMI (James et al., 2004). Conversely, Nicklas et al., (2008) found that the consumption of natural juices is not linked with an increase in the incidence of obesity in children.

# 8. Results

The results of this thesis showed that obesity is a multifactor disease. The factors that trigger this disease can range from socioeconomic, environmental, and genetic. Particularly,

genetics can play a huge role in determining whether the kid will become obese or not. This can be assessed by receiving the family's clinical history. However, other factors can influence the gain of weight, and those can be traced to the family environment. Results from this thesis show that families with low income can affect negatively their children and make them have a higher risk of consuming saturated fat food that can lead to weight gain and thus early-onset obesity. Additionally, it was shown that parents who truly care about their children, provide their children with the appropriate nutrition which can lower the risk of gaining weight. Also, a home that embraces healthy food can help individuals improve their diet. Furthermore, environmental factors such as lifestyle and physical activities are also important for decreasing the gain of weight. Particularly, children with a low rate of psychical activity are at higher risk of gaining weight compared to their peers, who physically exercise more often.

Other factors are associated with the mental health of an individual. Undoubtedly, obese children are targeted by stigma and discrimination. This can influence them negatively by developing several mental, disorders including anxiety and depression. Furthermore, data from scientific reports suggest that overweight pediatric patients are at a higher risk of demonstrating low self-esteem and motivational disorders. Therefore, to overcome such negative mental consequences, parents need to support their children with enough care and provide them with the right amount of nutrition diet. What is more, the results from this dissertation showed clearly that behavioral therapies can also help pediatric patients to overcome the above mental issues by activating motivation and thus changing their behavior into achieving a healthier lifestyle. Moreover, strengthening the relationship between family members can also be very beneficial and the individual can decide more easily to lose weight. Treatments of obesity can also be affected by underlying diseases, such as cardiovascular diseases and type 2 diabetes. In addition to this, it was suggested that the consumption of natural sweeteners such as honey can ameliorate metabolic health compared to processed sugar.

## 9. Conclusions

Undoubtedly, the phenomenon of obesity is a huge health concern worldwide. Moreover, obesity can be a risk factor for the occurrence of other life-threatening disorders, which have a great impact on a patient's quality of life, especially in the early-onset period. If the problem of obesity is not treated soon then it can cause physical and mental impairments. Such comorbidities include cardiovascular diseases, diabetes, and mobility problem. Additionally, it is reported that obese children have difficulties completing daily tasks. However, obesity is also associated with the development of mental disorders, which affect an individual's social life. This impact on the social life of individuals is less compared to that of physical function.

In parallel, evidence shows that weight loss is related to enhanced quality of life and benefits to mental health. Even the slightest weight loss from performing small life changes can be beneficial. In this direction, parents play a key role in supporting their obese children. Nevertheless, it is still questioned whether those benefits have a long-term effect or the opposite. Furthermore, weight loss can also prevent the development of type 2 diabetes and can protect the individual against cardiovascular disease. Furthermore, weight loss can also prevent comorbidities, including liver dysfunction, chronic obstructive pulmonary syndrome, joint pain, and even fertility.

Nonetheless, setting such goals can be difficult that's why it is important to consult professional healthcare givers, including psychologists who will provide the patient with the support and motivational techniques to achieve this goal. Particularly, such motivational approaches try to address the underlying issues and help patients change their behavior and integrate this change into their daily activities. Finally, family members have to assist their children by providing nutrition advice and applying a healthier diet.

All in all, obesity impacts an individual's life in multiple dimensions and must be considered a worldwide health priority. Therefore, further investigation is needed to develop new strategies and methods, which can prevent and also cure this pandemic.

Obesity has tripled since 1975, and today reached a pandemic rate (Abarca-Gomez et al., 2017; NCD-Risc, 2016). Obesity has put back tobacco usage as the primary lifestyle-related factor responsible for premature death (Bluher, 2019). This fact urged for stricter public health policies across the globe. It is intriguing to say that although added sugars are a likely culprit in promoting obesity, it is still not clear whether the form by which it is consumed (e.g., beverages, solid food) affects weight gain (Stanhope, 2015). Previous research on the Greek population has shown that adolescents differ from children in their consumption of added sugars; for instance, adolescents appear to endorse sugar-sweetened beverages compared to children (Magriplis et al., 2021). This makes sense as adolescence experience new stimuli without the constant supervision

of their parents –among which is the consumption of unhealthy food and drinks in the company of peers (e.g., at cafes).

Indeed, even though many foods contain sugar, sweetened beverages stand out as they increase sugar intake without feeding too many calories to children. Daily consumption of these beverages is over 50% of the population; studies have shown their consumption, especially during meal breaks, is connected with childhood obesity (Forshee et al., 2008; DuBois et al., 2007), especially for children under 12 (Frantsve-Hawley et al., 2017). Moreover, children who drink at least one "sweet drink" daily are twice as likely to be overweight after a year compared to children, who drink less of it (Welsh et al., 2005). Like any food, sugar is, of course, an essential part of a healthy diet, but the consumption of too much sugar can cause problems that affect overall health and well-being (Klurfeld, 2013). Increased sugar consumption – such as from the above beverages – is linked with excessive weight gain, obesity, metabolic syndrome, type 2 diabetes, hypertension, and other cardiovascular disorders in both children and adults (Malik et al., 2010; Raben et al., 2011; Yoshida &Simoes, 2018).

Consuming high-sugar fast food instead of family meals is one of the many conveniences of current life. Despite this, the increase in weight problems among adults and teenagers is a not neglectable situation. Restricting these meals to own family food can be a good manner to improve food consumption to lessen the risk of obesity (e.g, sweetened liquids). Healthcare experts assess and educate households on how to select healthier snacks and a way to prepare meals that might be healthy and nutritious. As described several times above, physical activity (e.g., aerobic, resistance training) – even at moderate levels – can cause significant benefits in terms of losing and maintaining appropriate weight (e.g., Jakicic et al., 2018; Kim et al., 2017); moreover, the individuals may emphasize more on the benefits of exercise rather than the negative aspects of restricting food intake - an approach which could become the focus of future campaigns (Waddington, 2019). In addition, Yoshida and Simoes (2019) have argued that higher taxation on sugar-sweetened beverages can provide a financial incentive in decreasing consumption. Although such approaches are likely beneficial in the long term, it is also important to realize that most studies treat sweetened beverages as being consumed holistically without showing asymmetrical rates of consumption; for instance, Pawellek et al. (2017) have reported higher consumption of sugar in children from younger mothers, while the sugar consumption from fruit merchandise was

decreasing in children from mothers with lower educational reputation and people with better birth order.

It is encouraging that recent reports have shown that sugar and energy consumption from the above beverages has significantly decreased from 2003 to 2016 in the USA (Marriott et al., 2019), although free sugar consumption *per se* still exceeds WHO recommendations (Perrar et al., 2019); this includes the substantial increase in sugar-sweetened beverages in decades before the 2000s and the sharp decline seen afterward (Della Notte et al., 2020). Indeed, a recent report by Schwimmer et al. (2019) has shown that adopting a diet low in free sugar improves the liver's condition in adolescent boys with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD), although the results are preliminary. It is, however, noteworthy to be said that a recent meta-analysis has shown that consumption of sugar-sweetened beverages may not be always linked with the incidence of obesity (Nissensohn et al., 2018). For instance, Sanghavi and Siddiqui (2017) have argued for the indirect role of oral health professionals (e.g., dentists) in combating childhood obesity by suggesting the avoidance of sugar-sweetened beverages, which are known to cause dental issues. In addition, Escalon et al. (2021) have reported that television advertising of products high in fat, sugar, and salt (HFSS) largely takes place during peak viewing hours and could be problematic for children and adolescents who are exposed to them.

Interestingly, a previous meta-analysis by Giske et al. (2010) has discovered that environmental, rather than purely dietary, factors – such as staying in a deprived area – can be a tremendous obesogenic reason. This is somewhat surprising, and paints a much more complex mechanism between obesity and food intake; this is not to say that low socioeconomic areas consume less added sugars – quite the opposite – but there may be a deeper synergy between sugar intake and lack of exercise (Thompson et al., 2009). For instance, it is possible that in low-income areas, there might be a lack of recreational facilities suitable for exercise (e.g., Keith et al., 2016), resulting in poor indices of physical activity; however, aerobic training (e.g., running) can still have substantial benefits in such areas. Future studies could, perhaps, aim to find the activity levels of participating individuals to draw meaningful associations between energy intake, sugar intake, and physical activity in maintaining a healthy body weight. Recognizing the issue of obesity as a multifactorial pathology can result in meaningful recommendations for fighting it such as campaigns for education, improved labeling, and advertisement restrictions (Fidler Mis et al., 2017). In conclusion, it is important for individuals of all ages with a greater emphasis on vulnerable populations – to develop proper eating habits and introduce a more active lifestyle to prevent obesity and keep a healthy body weight for as long as possible. Healthier eating behaviors can be promoted – among others – via the reduction of added sugars, an increase in foods rich in fiber, and moderate physical activity. We expect future research to determine these important relationships to promote healthier lifestyles across the lifespan.

# REFERENCES

Abarca-Gómez, L., Abdeen, Z. A., Hamid, Z. A., Abu-Rmeileh, N. M., Acosta-Cazares, B., Acuin, C., Adams, R. J., Aekplakorn, W., Afsana, K., Aguilar-Salinas, C. A., Agyemang, C., Ahmadvand,

A., Ahrens, W., Ajlouni, K., Akhtaeva, N., Al-Hazzaa, H. M., Al-Othman, A. R., Al-Raddadi, R., Al Buhairan, F., . . . Ezzati, M. (2017). Worldwide trends in body-mass index, underweight, overweight, and obesity from 1975 to 2016: a pooled analysis of 2416 population-based measurement studies in 128.9 million children, adolescents, and adults. *The Lancet*, *390*(10113), 2627–2642.

- Abdel Rahman, A., Jomaa, L., Kahale, L. A., Adair, P., & Pine, C. (2018). Effectiveness of behavioral interventions to reduce the intake of sugar-sweetened beverages in children and adolescents: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Nutrition reviews*, *76*(2), 88-107.
- Ahima, R. S., Prabakaran, D., Mantzoros, C., Qu, D., Lowell, B., Maratos-Flier, E., & Flier, J. S. (1996, July). Role of leptin in the neuroendocrine response to fasting. *Nature*, *382*(6588), 250–252.
- Anand, B, K., &Brobeck, J. R. (1951). Hypothalamic Control of Food Intake in Rats and Cats. *Yale Journal of Biology and Medicine*, 24, 123–140.
- Aranceta-Bartrina, J., Partearroyo, T., López-Sobaler, A. M., Ortega, R. M., Varela-Moreiras, G., Serra-Majem, L., & Pérez-Rodrigo, C. (2019). Updating the Food-Based Dietary Guidelines for the Spanish Population: The Spanish Society of Community Nutrition (SENC) Proposal. *Nutrients*, 11(11), 2675.
- Asai, M., Ramachandrappa, S., Joachim, M., Shen, Y., Zhang, R., Nuthalapati, N., Ramanathan, V., Strochlic, D. E., Ferket, P., Linhart, K., Ho, C., Novoselova, T. V., Garg, S., Ridderstråle, M., Marcus, C., Hirschhorn, J. N., Keogh, J. M., O'Rahilly, S., Chan, L. F., ... Majzoub, J. A. (2013). Loss of Function of the Melanocortin 2 Receptor Accessory Protein 2 Is Associated with Mammalian Obesity. *Science*, 341(6143), 275–278.
- Ash T., Agaronov A., Young T., Aftosmes-Tobio A., Davison K.K. (2017). Family-based childhood obesity prevention interventions: A systematic review and quantitative content analysis. *Int. J. Behav. Nutr. Phys. Act.*;14:113. doi: 10.1186/s12966-017-0571-2.
- Ataey A, Jafarvand E, Adham D, Moradi-Asl E. (2020). The Relationship Between Obesity, Overweight, and the Human Development Index in World Health Organization Eastern Mediterranean Region Countries. J Prev Med Public Health 53(2):98–105. doi: 10.3961/jpmph.19.100
- Avena, N. M., Rada, P., & Hoebel, B. G. (2008). Evidence for sugar addiction: Behavioral and neurochemical effects of intermittent, excessive sugar intake. *Neuroscience & Amp; Biobehavioral Reviews*, 32(1), 20–39.
- Barlow, S. E., & Dietz, W. H. (2002). Management of child and adolescent obesity: summary and recommendations based on reports from pediatricians, pediatric nurse practitioners, and registered dietitians. *Pediatrics*, *110*(Supplement 1), 236-238.
- Barlow, S. E., & Dietz, W. H. (1998). Obesity evaluation and treatment: expert committee recommendations. *Pediatrics*, 102(3), e29-e29.

- Bartali, B., Benvenuti, E., Corsi, A. M., Bandinelli, S., Russo, C. R., Di Iorio, A., &Ferrucci, L. (2002). Changes in anthropometric measures in men and women across the life-span: findings from the InCHIANTI study. *Sozial-und Präventivmedizin*, 47(5), 336-348.
- Birbilis, M., Moschonis, G., Mougios, V., & Manios, Y. (2013). Obesity in adolescence is associated with perinatal risk factors, parental BMI and sociodemographic characteristics. *European journal of clinical nutrition*, 67(1), 115-121.
- Blüher, M. (2019). Obesity: global epidemiology and pathogenesis. *Nature Reviews Endocrinology*, *15*(5), 288–298.
- Blum K., Thanos P.,S. Gold (2014). *Dopamine and glucose, obesity, and reward deficiency syndrome*. Doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2014.00919
- BÖRJESON, M. (1976). THE AETIOLOGY OF OBESITY IN CHILDREN A Study of 101 Twin Pairs. Acta Paediatrica, 65(3), 279–287. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1651-2227.
- Boutelle, K. N., Fulkerson, J. A., Neumark-Sztainer, D., Story, M., & French, S. A. (2007). Fast food for family meals: relationships with parent and adolescent food intake, home food availability and weight status. *Public health nutrition*, *10*(1), 16-23.
- Bovet, P., Chiolero, A., Madeleine, G., Gabriel, A., & Stettler, N. (2006). Marked increase in the prevalence of obesity in children of the Seychelles, a rapidly developing country, between 1998 and 2004. *International Journal of Pediatric Obesity*, 1(2), 120-128.
- Bray, G. A. (Ed.). (2014). *Handbook of Obesity--Volume 1: Epidemiology, Etiology, and Physiopathology* (Vol. 1). CRC Press.
- Brown, K. A., Timotijevic, L., Barnett, J., Shepherd, R., Lähteenmäki, L., &Raats, M. M. (2011). A review of consumer awareness, understanding and use of food-based dietary guidelines. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 106(1), 15-26.
- Buoncristiano M. Spinelli A., Williams J., Nardone P.Rito I., García-Solano M., Karin GrøholtE.(2021). *Childhood overweight and obesity in Europe: Changes from 2007 to 2017.* DOI: 10.1111/obr.13226
- Burniat, W., Cole, T. J., Lissau, I., & Poskitt, E. M. (Eds.). (2006). *Child and adolescent obesity: Causes and consequences, prevention and management*. Cambridge university press.
- Camacho, S., & Ruppel, A. (2017). Is the calorie concept a real solution to the obesity epidemic? *Global Health Action*, *10*(1), 1289650.
- Cassimos, D., Sidiropoulos, H., Batzios, S., Balodima, V., &Christoforidis, A. (2011). Sociodemographic and dietary risk factors for excess weight in a Greek pediatric population living in Kavala, Northern Greece. *Nutrition in Clinical Practice*, *26*(2), 186-191.

- Chen Y, Peng Q, Yang Y, Zheng S, Wang Y, Lu W. (2019). The Prevalence and Increasing Trends of Overweight, General Obesity, and Abdominal Obesity Among Chinese Adults: A Repeated Cross-Sectional Study. *BMC Public Health*, 19(1):1293. doi: 10.1186/s12889-019-7633-0
- Chi, D. L., & Scott, J. M. (2019). Added Sugar and Dental Caries in Children. *Dental Clinics of North America*, 63(1), 17–33.
- Christoforidis, A., Dimitriadou, M., Papadopolou, E., Stilpnopoulou, D., Katzos, G., &Athanassiou-Metaxa, M. (2011). Defining overweight and obesity among Greek children living in Thessaloniki: International versus local reference standards. *Hippokratia*, 15(2), 141.
- Cohen, J. F., Rifas-Shiman, S. L., Young, J. E., & Oken, E. (2018). Associations of Prenatal and Child Sugar Intake With Child Cognition. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 54(6), 727–735.
- Cole, T. J., Flegal, K. M., Nicholls, D., & Jackson, A. A. (2007). Body mass index cut offs to define thinness in children and adolescents: international survey. *Bmj*, *335*(7612), 194.
- Cole, T. J., Bellizzi, M. C., Flegal, K. M., & Dietz, W. H. (2000). Establishing a standard definition for child overweight and obesity worldwide: international survey. *Bmj*, *320*(7244), 1240.
- Coleman, D., & Hummel, K. (1969). Effects of parabiosis of normal with genetically diabetic mice. *American Journal of Physiology-Legacy Content*, 217(5), 1298–1304.
- Comizio, R., Pietrobelli, A., Tan, Y. X., Wang, Z., Withers, R. T., Heymsfield, S. B., & Boozer, C. N. (1998). Total body lipid and triglyceride response to energy deficit: relevance to body composition models. *American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 274(5), E860-E866.
- Corica D, Aversa T, Valenzise M, Messina MF, Alibrandi A, De Luca F. (2018). Does Family History of Obesity, Cardiovascular, and Metabolic Diseases Influence Onset and Severity of Childhood Obesity. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne) 9:187. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2018.00187
- Cowley, M. A., Pronchuk, N., Fan, W., Dinulescu, D. M., Colmers, W. F., & Cone, R. D. (1999). Integration of NPY, AGRP, and Melanocortin Signals in the Hypothalamic Paraventricular Nucleus. *Neuron*, 24(1), 155–163.
- Cui Z, Stevens J, Truesdale KP, Zeng D, French S, Gordon-Larsen P. (2016). Prediction of body mass index using concurrently self-reported or previously measured height and weight. PLoS ONE. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0167288.
- Curtis, C., and Davis, C. (2014). A qualitative study of binge eating and obesity from an addiction perspective. *Eat Disord.* 22, 19–32. doi: 10.1080/10640266.2014.857515
- Deal B., Huffman M., Binns H., Stone N. (2020). Perspective: Childhood Obesity Requires New Strategies for Prevention Doi: 10.1093/advances/nmaa040
- Debras, C., Chazelas, E., Srour, B., Kesse-Guyot, E., Julia, C., Zelek, L., Agaësse, C., Druesne-Pecollo, N., Galan, P., Hercberg, S., Latino-Martel, P., Deschasaux, M., & Touvier, M. (2020). Total and

added sugar intakes, sugar types, and cancer risk: results from the prospective NutriNet-Santé cohort. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 112(5), 1267–1279.

- Deckelbaum, R. J., & Williams, C. L. (2001). Childhood obesity: the health issue. *Obesity research*, 9(S11), 239S-243S.
- Della Corte, K., Fife, J., Gardner, A., Murphy, B. L., Kleis, L., Della Corte, D., Schwingshackl, L., LeCheminant, J. D., &Buyken, A. E. (2020). World trends in sugar-sweetened beverage and dietary sugar intakes in children and adolescents: a systematic review. *Nutrition Reviews*, 79(3), 274–288.
- Dennis, B. H., Pajak, A., Pardo, B., Davis, C. E., Williams, O. D., Piotrowski, W., & Irving, S. H. (2000). Weight gain and its correlates in Poland between 1983 and 1993. *International journal of obesity*, 24(11), 1507-1513.
- Denova-Gutiérrez, E., Jiménez-Aguilar, A., Halley-Castillo, E., Huitrón-Bravo, G., Talavera, J. O., Pineda-Pérez, D. &Salmerón, J. (2008). Association between sweetened beverage consumption and body mass index, proportion of body fat and body fat distribution in Mexican adolescents. *Annals of Nutrition and Metabolism*, 53(3-4), 245-251.
- DiBonaventura, M. D., Meincke, H., Le Lay, A., Fournier, J., Bakker, E., & Ehrenreich, A. (2017). Obesity in Mexico: prevalence, comorbidities, associations with patient outcomes, and treatment experiences. *Diabetes, Metabolic Syndrome and Obesity: Targets and Therapy, Volume 11*, 1–10.
- Di Cesare, M., Sorić, M., Bovet, P., Miranda, J. J., Bhutta, Z., Stevens, G. A., Laxmaiah, A., Kengne, A. P., & Bentham, J. (2019). The epidemiological burden of obesity in childhood: a worldwide epidemic requiring urgent action. *BMC Medicine*, *17*(1).
- Dietz, W. H., & Robinson, T. N. (2005). Overweight children and adolescents. New England Journal of Medicine, 352(20), 2100-2109.
- DiStefano, J. K., & Shaibi, G. Q. (2020). The relationship between excessive dietary fructose consumption and paediatric fatty liver disease. *Pediatric Obesity*, *16*(6).
- Dubern B. (2019). Genetics and Epigenetics of Obesity: Keys to Understand. Rev Prat 69(9):1016–9 Doi: 10.1016/j.maturitas.2011.02.018
- Dubois, L., Farmer, A., Girard, M., & Peterson, K. (2007). Regular sugar-sweetened beverage consumption between meals increases risk of overweight among preschool-aged children. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*, 107 6, 924-934.
- Dummer, T. J., Gibbon, M. A., Hackett, A. F., Stratton, G., &RTaylor, S. (2005). Is overweight and obesity in 9–10-year-old children in Liverpool related to deprivation and/or electoral ward when based on school attended?.*Public health nutrition*, 8(6), 636-641.
- Duran-Tauleria, E., Rona, R. J., & Chinn, S. (1995). Factors associated with weight for height and skinfold thickness in British children. *Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health*, 49(5), 466-473.

- Ebbeling, C. B., Pawlak, D. B., & Ludwig, D. S. (2002). Childhood obesity: public-health crisis, common sense cure. *The lancet*, *360*(9331), 473-482.
- Eliasson, M., Lindahl, B., Lundberg, V., &Stegmayr, B. (2003). Diabetes and obesity in Northern Sweden: occurrence and risk factors for stroke and myocardial infarction. *Scandinavian journal of public health*, *31*(61\_suppl), 70-77.
- El-Sayed, A. M., Scarborough, P., & Galea, S. (2012). Socioeconomic inequalities in childhood obesity in the United Kingdom: a systematic review of the literature. *Obesity facts*, *5*(5), 671-692.
- Epstein, L. H., Myers, M. D., Raynor, H. A., &Saelens, B. E. (1998). Treatment of pediatric obesity. *Pediatrics*, 101 (Supplement 2), 554-570.
- Epstein, L. H., Valoski, A., Wing, R. R., & McCurley, J. (1994). Ten-year outcomes of behavioral familybased treatment for childhood obesity. *Health psychology*, *13*(5), 373.
- Escalon, H., Courbet, D., Julia, C., Srour, B., Hercberg, S., &Serry, A. J. (2021). Exposure of French Children and Adolescents to Advertising for Foods High in Fat, Sugar or Salt. *Nutrients*, *13*(11), 3741.
- Evans R.A., Frese M., Romero J., Cunningham J.H., Mills K.E. (2017). Fructose replacement of glucose or sucrose in food or beverages lowers postprandial glucose and insulin without raising triglycerides: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 106:506–518. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.116.145151.
- Fabry, P., Hejda, S., Černý, K., Ošancová, K., Pechar, J., &Zvolankova, K. (1966). Effect of meal frequency in schoolchildren: changes in weight-height proportion and skinfold thickness. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 18(5), 358-361.
- Farajian, P., Panagiotakos, D. B., Risvas, G., Karasouli, K., Bountziouka, V., Voutzourakis, N., &Zampelas, A. (2013). Socio-economic and demographic determinants of childhood obesity prevalence in Greece: the GRECO (Greek Childhood Obesity) study. *Public health nutrition*, 16(2), 240-247.
- Farooqi, I. S. (2014). Defining the neural basis of appetite and obesity: from genes to behaviour. *Clinical Medicine*, *14*(3), 286–289.
- Fernández-Alvira, J. M., te Velde, S. J., De Bourdeaudhuij, I., Bere, E., Manios, Y., Kovacs, E.and Moreno, L. A. (2013). Parental education associations with children's body composition: mediation effects of energy balance-related behaviors within the ENERGY-project. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, 10(1), 80.
- Fernstrom J. (2015). Non-Nutritive Sweeteners and Obesity. Doi: 10.1146/annurev-food-022814-015635
- Fitzgerald MP, Hennigan K, O'Gorman CS, McCarron L. (2019). Obesity, Diet and Lifestyle in 9-Year-Old Children With Parentally Reported Chronic Diseases: Findings From the Growing Up in Ireland Longitudinal Child Cohort Study. Ir J Med Sci 188(1):29–34. doi: 10.1007/s11845-018-1814-1

- Flora, S. R., &Polenick, C. A. (2013). Effects of sugar consumption on human behavior and performance. *The Psychological Record*, *63*(3), 513-524.
- Flores-Dorantes, M. T., Díaz-López, Y. E., & Gutiérrez-Aguilar, R. (2020). Environment and Gene Association With Obesity and Their Impact on Neurodegenerative and Neurodevelopmental Diseases. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 14.
- Forshee, R. A., Anderson, P. A., & Storey, M. L. (2008). Sugar-sweetened beverages and body mass index in children and adolescents: a meta-analysis. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 87(6), 1662–1671.
- Franco, M., Bilal, U., Ordunez, P., Benet, M., Morejon, A., Caballero, B., Kennelly, J. F., & Cooper, R. S. (2013). Population-wide weight loss and regain in relation to diabetes burden and cardiovascular mortality in Cuba 1980-2010: repeated cross sectional surveys and ecological comparison of secular trends. *BMJ*, 346, f1515–f1515.
- Freedman, D. S., Dietz, W. H., Tang, R., Mensah, G. A., Bond, M. G., Urbina, E. M., & Berenson, G. S. (2004). The relation of obesity throughout life to carotid intima-media thickness in adulthood: the Bogalusa Heart Study. *International journal of obesity*, 28(1), 159-166.
- Fidler Mis, N., Braegger, C., Bronsky, J., Campoy, C., Domellöf, M., Embleton, N. D., Hojsak, I., Hulst, J., Indrio, F., Lapillonne, A., Mihatsch, W., Molgaard, C., Vora, R., &Fewtrell, M. (2017). Sugar in Infants, Children and Adolescents: A Position Paper of the European Society for Paediatric Gastroenterology, Hepatology and Nutrition Committee on Nutrition. *Journal of Pediatric Gastroenterology &Amp; Nutrition*, 65(6), 681–696.
- Fitch, C.andKeim, KS. (2012, May). Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics. Position of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics: use of nutritive and nonnutritive sweeteners. J AcadNutr Diet, 112(5):739-58.
- Frantsve-Hawley, J., Bader, J. D., Welsh, J. A., & Wright, J. T. (2017). A systematic review of the association between consumption of sugar-containing beverages and excess weight gain among children under age 12. *Journal of Public Health Dentistry*, 77, S43–S66.
- Gardner C, Wylie-Rosett J, Gidding SS, Steffen LM, Johnson RK, Reader D, and Lichtenstein AH. (2012, August). American Heart Association Nutrition Committee of the Council on Nutrition, Physical Activity and Metabolism, Council on Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis and Vascular Biology, Council on Cardiovascular Disease in the Young; American Diabetes Association. Nonnutritive sweeteners: current use and health perspectives: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association and the American Diabetes Association. Diabetes Care.35(8):1798-808.
- Galanis, P., &Sparos, L. (2012). Clinical and epidemiological research. Basic concepts. BETA Medical Publications, Athens (in Greek).
- Geserick, M., Vogel, M., Gausche, R., Lipek, T., Spielau, U., Keller, E., Pfäffle, R., Kiess, W., &Körner, A. (2018). Acceleration of BMI in Early Childhood and Risk of Sustained Obesity. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 379(14), 1303–1312.

- Georgiou A., Androutsos O., Chouliaras G., Charmandari E. (2022). Do Children and Adolescents with Overweight or Obesity Adhere to the National Food-Based Dietary Guidelines in Greece?Doi: 10.3390/children9020256
- Giskes, K., van Lenthe, F., Avendano-Pabon, M., &Brug, J. (2010). A systematic review of environmental factors and obesogenic dietary intakes among adults: are we getting closer to understanding obesogenic environments? *Obesity Reviews*, *12*(5), e95–e106.
- Gnavi, R., Spagnoli, T. D., Galotto, C., Pugliese, E., Carta, A., &Cesari, L. (2000). Socioeconomic status, overweight and obesity in prepuberal children: a study in an area of Northern Italy. *European journal of epidemiology*, *16*(9), 797-803.
- González, C. A., Pera, G., Quirós, J. R., Lasheras, C., Tormo, M. J., Rodriguez, M., &Beguiristain, J. M. (2000). Types of fat intake and body mass index in a Mediterranean country. *Public health nutrition*, *3*(3), 329-336.
- Greenfield, J. R., Miller, J. W., Keogh, J. M., Henning, E., Satterwhite, J. H., Cameron, G. S., Astruc, B., Mayer, J. P., Brage, S., See, T. C., Lomas, D. J., O'Rahilly, S., & Farooqi, I. S. (2009). Modulation of Blood Pressure by Central Melanocortinergic Pathways. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 360(1), 44–52.
- Grimes, C. A., Campbell, K. J., Riddell, L. J., &Nowson, C. A. (2011). Sources of sodium in Australian children's diets and the effect of the application of sodium targets to food products to reduce sodium intake. *British journal of nutrition*, *105*(3), 468-477.
- Hammons, A. J., & Fiese, B. H. (2011). Is frequency of shared family meals related to the nutritional health of children and adolescents?*Pediatrics*, *127*(6), e1565-e1574.
- Heitmann, B. L., Strøger, U., Mikkelsen, K. L., Holst, C., &Sørensen, T. I. (2004). Large heterogeneity of the obesity epidemic in Danish adults. *Public health nutrition*, 7(3), 453-460.
- Hemmingsson, E., Ekblom, R., Kallings, L. V., Andersson, G., Wallin, P., Söderling, J., Blom, V., Ekblom, B., &Ekblom-Bak, E. (2020). Prevalence and time trends of overweight, obesity and severe obesity in 447,925 Swedish adults, 1995–2017. Scandinavian Journal of Public Health, 49(4), 377–383.
- Herrera, B. M., & Lindgren, C. M. (2010). The Genetics of Obesity. *Current Diabetes Reports*, 10(6), 498–505.
- Holistic
  Health.
  (March, 2019).
  Natural
  Sugars
  vs
  Additives.
  Διαθέσιμο
  στο:

  <a href="https://holistichealth.gr/%CF%86%CF%85%CF%83%CE%B9%CE%BA%CE%AC%CE%A6%CF%85%CF%83%CE%B9%CE%B4%CE%B4%CE%B1%CF%81%CE%B1%CE%B1%CF%81%CE%B1-vs-%CE%B6%CE%AC%CF%87%CE%B1%CF%81%CE%B7/</a>

   Διαθέσιμο

   στο:

   Διαθέσιμο

   Διαθέσιμο

   Διαθέσιμο

   Διαθέσιμο<
- Hu, G., Barengo, N. C., Tuomilehto, J., Lakka, T. A., Nissinen, A., &Jousilahti, P. (2004). Relationship of physical activity and body mass index to the risk of hypertension: a prospective study in Finland. *Hypertension*, 43(1), 25-30.

- Hruby A., Manson E., Qi L., Vasanti S. Eric B. (2016). Determinants and Consequences of Obesity Doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2016.303326
- Houalla, N., Al-Jawaldeh, A. E., Bagchi, K., Hachem, F., El Ati, J., Omidvar, N. & World Health Organization. (2012). *Promoting a healthy diet for the WHO Eastern Mediterranean Region: user-friendly guide*.
- IASO. (2004). International Obesity Task Force (IOFT): Childhood Report May 2004.
- IASO. (2012). Overweight children around the world. Διαθέσιμο στο: http://www.iaso.org/resources/world-map-obesity/?map=children
- Ibarra-Reynoso L., Lopez-Lemus H., Garay-Sevilla E., Malacara J (2017). Effect of restriction of foods with high fructose corn syrup content on metabolic indices and fatty liver in obese children.

Doi:10.1159/000476069

- IOTF. (2004). Childhood Obesity Report. Διαθέσιμοστο: www.ioft.org
- IOFT. (2005). EY Platform on Diet, Physical Activity and Health. Διαθέσιμοστο: www.iotf.org
- James, J., Thomas, P., Cavan, D., &Kerr, D. (2004). Preventing childhood obesity by reducing consumption of carbonated drinks: cluster randomised controlled trial. *Bmj*, 328(7450), 1237.
- Jakicic, J. M., Rogers, R. J., Davis, K. K., & Collins, K. A. (2018). Role of Physical Activity and Exercise in Treating Patients with Overweight and Obesity. *Clinical Chemistry*, 64(1), 99–107.
- Jeppesen, C., Bjerregaard, P., & Young, K. (2011). Food-based dietary guidelines in circumpolar regions. International Journal of Circumpolar Health, 70(sup8), 1-42.
- Jocelyn Dunstan, Marcela Aguirre, Magdalena Bastías, Claudia Nau, Thomas A. Glass, Felipe Tobar. (2020). *Predicting nationwide obesity from food sales using machine learning*, Health Inf. J. 26 (1) 652–663. Doi: 10.1177/14604582198459
- Johnson, R. J., Nakagawa, T., Sánchez-Lozada, L. G., Shafiu, M., Sundaram, S. S., Le, M. T., Ishimoto, T., Sautin, Y. Y., & Lanaspa, M. A. (2013). Sugar, Uric Acid, and the Etiology of Diabetes and Obesity. *Diabetes*, 62(10), 3307–3315.
- Kafatos, A., Diacatou, A., Voukiklaris, G., Nikolakakis, N., Vlachonikolis, J., Kounali, D. &Dontas, A. S. (1997). Heart disease risk-factor status and dietary changes in the Cretan population over the past 30 y: the Seven Countries Study. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 65(6), 1882-1886.
- Kaisari, P., Yannakoulia, M., & Panagiotakos, D. B. (2013). Eating frequency and overweight and obesity in children and adolescents: a meta-analysis. *Pediatrics*, *131*(5), 958-967.

- Karayiannis, D., Yannakoulia, M., Terzidou, M., Sidossis, L. S., &Kokkevi, A. (2003). Prevalence of overweight and obesity in Greek school-aged children and adolescents. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 57(9), 1189-1192.
- Keith, N., Mi, D., Alexander, K., Kaiser, S., & de Groot, M. (2016). PARCS: A Safety Net Community-Based Fitness Center for Low-Income Adults. *Progress in Community Health Partnerships: Research, Education, and Action*, 10(2), 185–195.
- Keramidaki, K., Tsagari, A., Hiona, M., &Risvas, G. (2019). Osteosarcopenic obesity, the coexistence of osteoporosis, sarcopenia and obesity and consequences in the quality of life in older adults ≥365 years-old in Greece. *Journal of Frailty, Sarcopenia and Falls*, 91–101.
- Kernie, S. G. (2000). BDNF regulates eating behavior and locomotor activity in mice. *The EMBO Journal*, *19*(6), 1290–1300.
- Kim, B. Y., Choi, D. H., Jung, C. H., Kang, S. K., Mok, J. O., & Kim, C. H. (2017). Obesity and Physical Activity. *Journal of Obesity & Amp; Metabolic Syndrome*, 26(1), 15–22.
- Kleinwechter, H., Schäfer-Graf, U., Bührer, C., Hoesli, I., Kainer, F., Kautzky-Willer, A. &Sorger, M. (2011). Gestationsdiabetes mellitus (GDM). *Diabetologie und Stoffwechsel*, 6(05), 290-328.
- Kleiser, C., Rosario, A. S., Mensink, G. B., Prinz-Langenohl, R., &Kurth, B. M. (2009). Potential determinants of obesity among children and adolescents in Germany: results from the cross-sectional KiGGS Study. *BMC public health*, 9(1), 46.
- Klurfeld, D. M. (2013). What Do Government Agencies Consider in the Debate Over Added Sugars? *Advances in Nutrition*, 4(2), 257–261.
- Koku Aksu, A., Metintas, S., Saracoglu, Z., Gurel, G., Sabuncu, I., Arikan, I., & Kalyoncu, C. (2011). Acne: prevalence and relationship with dietary habits in Eskisehir, Turkey. *Journal of the European Academy of Dermatology and Venereology*, no-no.
- Kontsevaya, A., Shalnova, S., Deev, A., Breda, J., Jewell, J., Rakovac, I., Conrady, A., Rotar, O., Zhernakova, Y., Chazova, I., & Boytsov, S. (2019). Overweight and Obesity in the Russian Population: Prevalence in Adults and Association with Socioeconomic Parameters and Cardiovascular Risk Factors. *Obesity Facts*, 12(1), 103–114.
- Kosti, R. I., &Panagiotakos, D. B. (2006). The epidemic of obesity in children and adolescents in the world. *Central European journal of public health*, *14*(4), 151.
- Kosti, R. I., Panagiotakos, D. B., Mihas, C. C., Alevizos, A., Zampelas, A., Mariolis, A., &Tountas, Y. (2007). Dietary habits, physical activity and prevalence of overweight/obesity among adolescents in Greece: theVyronas study. *Medical Science Monitor*, 13(10), CR437-CR444.
- Kostopoulou E.Tsekoura E.Fouzas S.Gkentzi D.Jelastopulu E.Varvarigou A. (2021). Association of lifestyle factors with a high prevalence of overweight and obesity in Greek children aged 10–16 years. DOI: 10.1111/apa.15960

- Koukoulis, G., Sakka, C., Katsaros, F., Goutou, M., Tsirona, S., Tsiapali, E., Piterou, A., Stefanidis, I., & Stathakis, N. (2010, July 15). High rates of obesity prevalence in adults living in Central Greece: Data from the ARGOS Study. *HORMONES*, *9*(3), 253–262.
- Kromeyer-Hauschild, K., Zellner, K., Jaeger, U., & Hoyer, H. (1999). Prevalence of overweight and obesity among school children in Jena (Germany). *International journal of obesity*, 23(11), 1143-1150.
- Krassas, G. E., Tzotzas, T., Tsametis, C., &Konstantinidis, T. (2001). Determinants of body mass index in Greek children and adolescents. *Journal of pediatric endocrinology & metabolism: JPEM*, *14*, 1327.
- Krude, H., Biebermann, H., Luck, W., Horn, R., Brabant, G., &Grüters, A. (1998). Severe early-onset obesity, adrenal insufficiency and red hair pigmentation caused by POMC mutations in humans. *Nature Genetics*, *19*(2), 155–157.
- Kuczmarski, R. J. (2002). 2000 CDC Growth Charts for the United States: methods and development (No. 246). Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Health Statistics.
- Kumar S., and Kelly S. (2016). Review of Childhood Obesity: From Epidemiology, Etiology, and Comorbidities to Clinical Assessment and Treatment. Mayo Foundation for Medical Education and Research. 10.1016/j.mayocp.2016.09.017
- KUSKOWSKA-WOLK, A., & RÖSSNER, S. (1990). Prevalence of obesity in Sweden: cross-sectional study of a representative adult population. *Journal of Internal Medicine*, 227(4), 241–246.
- Lal A, Mantilla-Herrera AM, Veerman L, Backholer K, Sacks G, Moodie M. (2020). Correction: Modelled Health Benefits of a Sugar-Sweetened Beverage Tax Across Different Socioeconomic Groups in Australia: A CostEffectiveness and Equity Analysis. PloS Med 17(7):e1003310. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1003310
- Lehto, R., Ray, C., &Roos, E. (2012). Longitudinal associations between family characteristics and measures of childhood obesity. *International journal of public health*, 57(3), 495-503.
- Leite F. Ribeiro L. (2020). Dopaminergic Pathways in Obesity-Associated Inflammation. doi: 10.1007/s11481-019-09863-0.
- Liberali R., Kupek E., Assis M.A.A.D. (2020). Dietary Patterns and Childhood Obesity Risk: A Systematic Review. *Child. Obes.* 16:70–85. doi: 10.1089/chi.2019.0059.
- Li, J., Wu, H., Liu, Y., & Yang, L. (2020). High fat diet induced obesity model using four strains of mice: Kunming, C57BL/6, BALB/c and ICR. *Experimental Animals*, 69(3), 326–335.
- Lien, N., Kumar, B. N., Holmboe-Ottesen, G., Klepp, K. I., &Wandel, M. (2007). Assessing social differences in overweight among 15-to 16-year-old ethnic Norwegians from Oslo by register data and adolescent self-reported measures of socio-economic status. *International journal of obesity*, 31(1), 30-38.

- Li, G., Zhang, P., Wang, J., An, Y., Gong, Q., Gregg, E. W., ... Bennett, P. H. (2014). Cardiovascular mortality, all-cause mortality, and diabetes incidence after lifestyle intervention for people with impaired glucose tolerance in the Da Qing Diabetes Prevention Study: A 23-year follow-up study. Lancet Diabetes & Endocrinology, 2(6), 474–480 Doi: 10.1016/S2213-8587(14)70057-9
- Lin, T. K., Teymourian, Y., &Tursini, M. S. (2018). The effect of sugar and processed food imports on the prevalence of overweight and obesity in 172 countries. *Globalization and health*, *14*(1), 1-14.
- Lin X. and Li H. (2021). Obesity: Epidemiology, Pathophysiology, and Therapeutics. Department of Endocrinology, Sir Run Run Shaw Hospital, School of Medicine, Zhejiang University, Hangzhou, China Doi: 10.3389/fendo.2021.706978
- Liu, J., Zong, X., Vogtmann, E., Cao, C., James, A. S., Chan, A. T., Rimm, E. B., Hayes, R. B., Colditz, G. A., Michaud, D. S., Joshipura, K. J., Abnet, C. C., & Cao, Y. (2022). Tooth count, untreated caries and mortality in US adults: a population-based cohort study. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, 51(4), 1291–1303.
- Lobstein, T., & Frelut, M. L. (2003). Prevalence of overweight among children in Europe. *Obesity reviews*, 4(4), 195-200.
- Longe, J. L. (2008). *The Gale Encyclopedia of Diets: A Guide to Health and Nutrition; Two Volume Set.* Gale.
- Loos, R. J. F., & Yeo, G. S. H. (2021). The genetics of obesity: from discovery to biology. *Nature Reviews Genetics*, 23(2), 120–133.
- Lytvyak, E., Straube, S., Modi, R., & Lee, K. K. (2022). Trends in obesity across Canada from 2005 to 2018: a consecutive cross-sectional population-based study. *CMAJ Open*, *10*(2), E439–E449.
- Ma, J., Sloan, M., Fox, C. S., Hoffmann, U., Smith, C. E., Saltzman, E., Rogers, G. T., Jacques, P. F., & McKeown, N. M. (2014). Sugar-Sweetened Beverage Consumption Is Associated with Abdominal Fat Partitioning in Healthy Adults. *The Journal of Nutrition*, 144(8), 1283–1290.
- Maier B., Stricker L., Ozel Y., Wagnerberger S., Bischoff S., Bergheim I.,(2010). A low fructose diet in the treatment of pediatric obesity : a pilot study. Διαθέσιμο στο : https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1442-200X.2010.03248.x
- Malik, V.S., Popkin, B.M., Bray, G.A., Despres, J.P., Willett, W.C. & Hu, F.B. (2010). Sugar-sweetened beverages and risk of metabolic syndrome and type 2 diabetes: a meta-analysis. *Diabetes Care*, 33(11):2477-2483.
- Malina, R. M., Reyes, M. E. P., Tan, S. K., Buschang, P. H., & Little, B. B. (2007). Overweight and obesity in a rural Amerindian population in Oaxaca, Southern Mexico, 1968–2000. American Journal of Human Biology, 19(5), 711-721.
- Mamalakis, G., &Kafatos, A. (1996). Prevalence of obesity in Greece. *International journal of obesity and related metabolic disorders: journal of the International Association for the Study of Obesity*, 20(5), 488-492.

- Manios Y., Androutsos O., Katsarou O., Vampouli Eleni Anna., Kulaga Z., Gurzkowa B., Iotova V., Usheva N., Gardon G., Koletzko B., Moreno L., Bourdeaudhuij I.,(2018) Prevelance and sociodemographic correlates of overweight and obesity in a large Pan-European cohort of preschool children and ther families: the ToyBox study, 55-56:192-198.doi:10.1016/j.nut.2018.05.007.Epub 2018 May 24.
- Magriplis, E., Michas, G., Petridi, E., Chrousos, G. P., Roma, E., Benetou, V., Cholopoulos, N., Micha, R., Panagiotakos, D., &Zampelas, A. (2021). Dietary Sugar Intake and Its Association with Obesity in Children and Adolescents. *Children*, 8(8), 676.
- Marriott, B. P., Hunt, K. J., Malek, A. M., & Newman, J. C. (2019). Trends in Intake of Energy and Total Sugar from Sugar-Sweetened Beverages in the United States among Children and Adults, NHANES 2003–2016. Nutrients, 11(9), 2004.
- McKelvey L.M., Saccente J.E., Swindle T.M. (2019). Adverse Childhood Experiences in Infancy and Toddlerhood Predict Obesity and Health Outcomes in Middle Childhood. *Child. Obes.* 15:206–215. doi: 10.1089/chi.2018.0225.
- Mbogori T, Kimmel K, Zhang M, Kandiah J, Wang Y. (2020).Nutrition Transition and Double Burden of Malnutrition in Africa: A Case Study of Four Selected Countries With Different Social Economic Development. AIMS Public Health7:425–39. doi: 10.3934/publichealth.2020035
- McGuire, S. (2011). US department of agriculture and US department of health and human services, dietary guidelines for Americans, 2010. Washington, DC: US government printing office, January 2011.
- Meixiong, J., Ricco, C., Vasavda, C., & Ho, B. K. (2022). Diet and acne: A systematic review. JAAD International, 7, 95–112.
- Michaud, J. L. (2001, July 1). Sim1 haploinsufficiency causes hyperphagia, obesity and reduction of the paraventricular nucleus of the hypothalamus. *Human Molecular Genetics*, *10*(14), 1465–1473.
- Ministry of Health and Welfare. (1999). Supreme Special Scientific Council of Health. Archives of Greek Medicine, 16 (6), 615-625. (in Greek).
- Molnar, D., Török, K., Erhardt, E., &Jeges, S. (2000). Safety and efficacy of treatment with an ephedrine/caffeine mixture. The first double-blind placebo-controlled pilot study in adolescents. *International Journal of Obesity*, 24(12), 1573-1578.
- Morabia, A., & Costanza, M. C. (2005). The obesity epidemic as harbinger of a metabolic disorder epidemic: trends in overweight, hypercholesterolemia, and diabetes treatment in Geneva, Switzerland, 1993–2003. *American journal of public health*, 95(4), 632-635.
- Moynihan, P. (2016). Sugars and Dental Caries: Evidence for Setting a Recommended Threshold for Intake. *Advances in Nutrition*, 7(1), 149–156.
- Must, A., & Strauss, R. S. (1999). Risks and consequences of childhood and adolescent obesity. *International journal of obesity*, 23(2), S2-S11.

- Navalpotro, L., Regidor, E., Ortega, P., Martínez, D., Villanueva, R., &Astasio, P. (2012). Area-based socioeconomic environment, obesity risk behaviours, area facilities and childhood overweight and obesity: socioeconomic environment and childhood overweight. *Preventive medicine*, 55(2), 102-107.
- NCD-Risk Factor Collaboration (NCD-Risc) (2016). Trends in adult body-mass index in 200 countries from 1975 to 2014: a pooled analysis of 1698 population-based measurement studies with 19.2 million participants. *The Lancet*, *387*, 1377–1396.
- Nemoseck T.M., Carmody E.G., Furchner-Evanson A., Gleason M., Li A., Potter H., Rezende L.M., Lane K.J., Kern M. (2011). Honey promotes lower weight gain, adiposity, and triglycerides than sucrose in rats. *Nutr. Res.* 2011;31:55–60. doi: 10.1016/j.nutres.2010.11.002.
- Neovius, M., Janson, A., & Rössner, S. (2006). Prevalence of obesity in Sweden. *Obesity reviews*, 7(1), 1-3.
- Nguyen B, Clements J. (2017). Obesity Management Among Patients With Type 2 Diabetes and Prediabetes: A Focus on Lifestyle Modifications and Evidence of Antiobesity Medications. Expert Rev Endocrinol Metab12(5):303–13. doi: 10.1080/17446651.2017.1367285
- Nicklas, T. A., O'Neil, C. E., & Kleinman, R. (2008). Association between 100% juice consumption and nutrient intake and weight of children aged 2 to 11 years. *Archives of pediatrics & adolescent medicine*, *162*(6), 557-565.
- Nissensohn, M., Fuentes Lugo, D., & Serra-Majem, L. (2018). Sugar-sweetened beverage consumption and obesity in children's meta-analyses: reaching wrong answers for right questions. *NutriciónHospitalaria*, 474.
- Obri A, Claret M. The Role of Epigenetics in Hypothalamic Energy Balance Control: Implications for Obesity. (2019).Cell Stress 3(7):208–20. doi: 10.15698/cst2019.07.191
- Ogden, C. L., Carroll, M. D., Curtin, L. R., McDowell, M. A., Tabak, C. J., &Flegal, K. M. (2006). Prevalence of overweight and obesity in the United States, 1999-2004. *Jama*, 295(13), 1549-1555.
- Ogden, C. L., Flegal, K. M., Carroll, M. D., & Johnson, C. L. (2002). Prevalence and trends in overweight among US children and adolescents, 1999-2000. *Jama*, 288(14), 1728-1732.
- Pan A, Malik VS, Hao T, Willett WC, Mozaffarian D, Hu FB. (2013). Changes in water and beverage intake and long-term weight changes: results from three prospective cohort studies. Int J Obes (Lond) 37(10):1378–1385.
- Panagiotakos, D. B., Antonogeorgos, G., Papadimitriou, A., Anthracopoulos, M. B., Papadopoulos, M., Konstantinidou, M. &Priftis, K. N. (2008). Breakfast cereal is associated with a lower prevalence of obesity among 10–12-year-old children: the PANACEA study. *Nutrition, Metabolism and Cardiovascular Diseases*, 18(9), 606-612.

- Panagiotakos, D. B., Pitsavos, C., Chrysohoou, C., Risvas, G., Kontogianni, M. D., Zampelas, A., &Stefanadis, C. (2004). Epidemiology of Overweight and Obesity in a Greek Adult Population: the ATTICA Study. *Obesity Research*, 12(12), 1914–1920.
- Park, B. Y., Byeon, K., Lee, M. J., Kim, S. H., & Park, H. (2020). The orbitofrontal cortex functionally links obesity and white matter hyperintensities. *Scientific Reports*, *10*(1).
- Pawellek, I., Grote, V., Theurich, M., Closa-Monasterolo, R., Stolarczyk, A., Verduci, E., Xhonneux, A., &Koletzko, B. (2016). Factors associated with sugar intake and sugar sources in European children from 1 to 8 years of age. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 71(1), 25–32.
- Perrar, I., Schmitting, S., Della Corte, K. W., Buyken, A. E., &Alexy, U. (2019). Age and time trends in sugar intake among children and adolescents: results from the DONALD study. *European Journal of Nutrition*, *59*(3), 1043–1054.
- Perk, J. (2012). de Backer g, gohlke h, graham i, Reiner Ž, Verschuren M, et al. European guidelines on cardiovascular disease prevention in clinical practice (version 2012): The Fifth Joint Task Force of the European society of Cardiology and other societies on Cardiovascular disease Prevention in Clinical Practice (constituted by representatives of nine societies and by invited experts). *Eur heart J*, 1635-701.
- Phyllis, W. Speiser, Rudoff, C.J., Anhalt, H., Camacho Hubener, C. and Chiarelli, F. (2004). Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism, 10:1210-1389.
- Pomerleau, J., Pudule, I., Grinberga, D., Kadziauskiene, K., Abaravicius, A., Bartkeviciute, R., & McKee, M. (2000). Patterns of body weight in the Baltic Republics. *Public health nutrition*, *3*(1), 3-10.
- Poskitt, E. M., & Edmunds, L. (2008). *Management of childhood obesity*. Cambridge, UK:: Cambridge University Press.
- Prospective Studies Collaboration (2009). Body-mass index and cause-specific mortality in 900000 adults: collaborative analyses of 57 prospective studies. *Lancet*, 373, 1083–1096.
- Raben, A., Møller, B.K., Flint, A., Vasilaris, T.H., Christina Møller, A., Juul Holst, J., &Astrup, A. (2011). Increased postprandial glycaemia, insulinemia, and lipidemia after 10 weeks' sucrose-rich diet compared to an artificially sweetened diet: a randomised controlled trial. *Food & nutrition research*, 55.
- Raji, C. A., Ho, A. J., Parikshak, N. N., Becker, J. T., Lopez, O. L., Kuller, L. H., Hua, X., Leow, A. D., Toga, A. W., & Thompson, P. M. (2009). Brain structure and obesity. *Human Brain Mapping*, NA-NA.
- Razzaque, M. (2020). Overconsumption of sugar-sweetened beverages: why is it difficult to control?. *Journal of Population Therapeutics and Clinical Pharmacology*, 27(2), e62-e68.
- Reedy, J., & Krebs-Smith, S. M. (2008). A comparison of food-based recommendations and nutrient values of three food guides: USDA's MyPyramid, NHLBI's Dietary Approaches to Stop

Hypertension Eating Plan, and Harvard's Healthy Eating Pyramid. *Journal of the American dietetic association*, 108(3), 522-528.

- Restrepo, B. J. (2022, July). Obesity Prevalence Among U.S. Adults During the COVID-19 Pandemic. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 63(1), 102–106.
- Roos, E., Pajunen, T., Ray, C., Lynch, C., Kristiansdottir, A. G., Halldorsson, T. I. & de Almeida, M. D. V. (2014). Does eating family meals and having the television on during dinner correlate with overweight? A sub-study of the PRO GREENS project, looking at children from nine European countries. *Public health nutrition*, 17(11), 2528-2536.
- Rona, R. J., & Chinn, S. (1982). National study of health and growth: social and family factors and obesity in primary schoolchildren. *Annals of human biology*, 9(2), 131-145.
- Sahoo K., Sahoo B., Choudhury A., Yasin N., Bhadoria A. (2015). Childhood obesity: causes and consequences. doi: 10.4103/2249-4863.154628
- Sanghavi, A., & Siddiqui, N. J. (2017). Advancing oral health policy and advocacy to prevent childhood obesity and reduce children's consumption of sugar-sweetened beverages. *Journal of Public Health Dentistry*, 77, S88–S95.
- Santos, A. C., & Barros, H. (2003). Prevalence and determinants of obesity in an urban sample of Portuguese adults. *Public health*, 117(6), 430-437.
- Schutz, Y., &Woringer, V. (2002). Obesity in Switzerland: a critical assessment of prevalence in children and adults. *International Journal of Obesity*, 26(2), S3-S11.
- Schwimmer, J. B., Ugalde-Nicalo, P., Welsh, J. A., Angeles, J. E., Cordero, M., Harlow, K. E., Alazraki, A., Durelle, J., Knight-Scott, J., Newton, K. P., Cleeton, R., Knott, C., Konomi, J., Middleton, M. S., Travers, C., Sirlin, C. B., Hernandez, A., Sekkarie, A., McCracken, C., & Vos, M. B. (2019). Effect of a Low Free Sugar Diet vs Usual Diet on Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease in Adolescent Boys. *JAMA*, *321*(3), 256.
- Schwarz J., Noworolski S., Cakmak A., Korn N., Wen M., Tai V., Jones G., Palii S., Valasco-Alin M., Pan K., Patterson B., Gugliucci A., Lusting R., Mulligan K.(2017). Effects of Dietary Fructose Restriction on Liver Fat, De Novo Lipogenesis, and Insulin Kinetics in Children obesity. Gastroenterology 2017 Sep; 153(3) 743-752 doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2017.05.043.
- Semmler, C., Ashcroft, J., Van Jaarsveld, C. H., Carnell, S., & Wardle, J. (2009). Development of overweight in children in relation to parental weight and socioeconomic status. *Obesity*, 17(4), 814-820.
- Sen, B. (2006). Frequency of family dinner and adolescent body weight status: evidence from the national longitudinal survey of youth, 1997. *Obesity*, *14*(12), 2266-2276.
- Shapiro, A., Mu, W., Roncal, C., Cheng, K. Y., Johnson, R. J., & Scarpace, P. J. (2008). Fructose-induced leptin resistance exacerbates weight gain in response to subsequent high-fat feeding. *American*

Journal of Physiology-Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology, 295(5), R1370–R1375.

- Sharma, S., Chung, H., Kim, H., & Hong, S. (2016). Paradoxical Effects of Fruit on Obesity. *Nutrients*, 8(10), 633.
- Shils, M. E., &Shike, M. (Eds.). (2006). *Modern nutrition in health and disease*. Lippincott Williams & Wilkins.
- Shrewsbury, V., & Wardle, J. (2008). Socioeconomic status and adiposity in childhood: a systematic review of cross-sectional studies 1990–2005. *Obesity*, 16(2), 275-284.
- Sichieri, R., Trotte, A. P., de Souza, R. A., &Veiga, G. V. (2009). School randomised trial on prevention of excessive weight gain by discouraging students from drinking sodas. *Public health nutrition*, 12(2), 197-202.
- Siljee, J. E., Wang, Y., Bernard, A. A., Ersoy, B. A., Zhang, S., Marley, A., Von Zastrow, M., Reiter, J. F., &Vaisse, C. (2018). Subcellular localization of MC4R with ADCY3 at neuronal primary cilia underlies a common pathway for genetic predisposition to obesity. *Nature Genetics*, 50(2), 180–185.
- Sinha, R., Fisch, G., Teague, B., Tamborlane, W. V., Banyas, B., Allen, K., & Sherwin, R. S. (2002). Prevalence of impaired glucose tolerance among children and adolescents with marked obesity. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 346(11), 802-810.
- Singer-Englar T, Barlow G, Mathur R. (2019). *Obesity, Diabetes, and the Gut Microbiome: An Updated Review*. Expert Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol13(1):3–15. doi: 10.1080/17474124.2019.1543023
- Sobal, J., &Stunkard, A. J. (1989). Socioeconomic status and obesity: a review of the literature. *Psychological bulletin*, 105(2), 260.
- Softic S., Gupta M.K., Wang G.X., Fujisaka S., O'Neill B.T., Rao T.N., Willoughby J., Harbison C., Fitzgerald K., Ilkayeva O. (2017). Divergent effects of glucose and fructose on hepatic lipogenesis and insulin signaling. J. Clin. Invest. 127:4059–4074. doi: 10.1172/JCI94585.
- St-Pierre P., Pilon G., Dumais V., Dion C., Dubois M.-J., Dubé P., Desjardins Y., Marette A. (2014). Comparative analysis of maple syrup to other natural sweeteners and evaluation of their metabolic responses in healthy rats. J. Funct. Foods. 11:460–471. doi: 10.1016/j.jff.2014.10.001.
- Stanhope, K. L. (2015). Sugar consumption, metabolic disease and obesity: The state of the controversy. *Critical Reviews in Clinical Laboratory Sciences*, *53*(1), 52–67.
- Status, W. P. (1995). The use and interpretation of anthropometry. WHO technical report series, 854(9).
- Strauss, R. S., & Pollack, H. A. (2003). Social marginalization of overweight children. Archives of pediatrics& adolescent medicine, 157(8), 746-752.

- Striegel-Moore, R. H., Thompson, D., Affenito, S. G., Franko, D. L., Obarzanek, E., Barton, B. A. & Crawford, P. B. (2006). Correlates of beverage intake in adolescent girls: the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute Growth and Health Study. *The Journal of pediatrics*, 148(2), 183-187.
- Stunkard, A. J., Harris, J. R., Pedersen, N. L., &McClearn, G. E. (1990). The Body-Mass Index of Twins Who Have Been Reared Apart. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 322(21), 1483–1487.
- Sugerman, H. J., Sugerman, E. L., DeMaria, E. J., Kellum, J. M., Kennedy, C., Mowery, Y., & Wolfe, L. G. (2003). Bariatric surgery for severely obese adolescents. *Journal of Gastrointestinal Surgery*, 7(1), 102-108.
- Świąder, K., Wegner, K., Piotrowska, A., Fa-Jui, T., &Sadowska, A. (2019). Plants as a source of natural high-intensity sweeteners: a review". *Journal of Applied Botany and Food Quality*, 92, 160-171.
- Swinburn BA, Sacks G, Hall KD, McPherson K, Finegood DT, Moodie ML (2011). The GlobalObesity Pandemic: Shaped byGlobalDrivers and Local Environments. Lancet 378(9793):804–14. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(11)60813-1
- Taveras, E. M., Rifas-Shiman, S. L., Berkey, C. S., Rockett, H. R., Field, A. E., Frazier, A. L. & Gillman, M. W. (2005). Family dinner and adolescent overweight. *Obesity research*, 13(5), 900-906.
- Thefeld, W. (2000). Spread of the cardiovascular risk factors hypercholesterolemia, obesity, hypertension and smoking in the population. Federal Health Gazette-Health Research-Health Protection, 43 (6), 415-423.
- Thompson, F. E., McNeel, T. S., Dowling, E. C., Midthune, D., Morrissette, M., &Zeruto, C. A. (2009, August). Interrelationships of Added Sugars Intake, Socioeconomic Status, and Race/Ethnicity in Adults in the United States: National Health Interview Survey, 2005. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*, 109(8), 1376–1383.
- Traversy, G., & Chaput, J. P. (2015). Alcohol Consumption and Obesity: An Update. *Current Obesity Reports*, 4(1), 122–130.
- Troiano, R. P., Briefel, R. R., Carroll, M. D., &Bialostosky, K. (2000). Energy and fat intakes of children and adolescents in the United States: data from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Surveys. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 72(5), 1343s-1353s.
- Unit, JHS. (2003). Risk factors for cardiovascular disease. In Health Survey for England Volume 2. National Statistics.
- Valdes, J., Rodríguez-Artalejo, F., Aguilar, L., Jaen-Casquero, M. B., &Royo-Bordonada, M. Á. (2013). Frequency of family meals and childhood overweight: a systematic review. *Pediatric obesity*, 8(1), e1-e13.
- Vamos, C. A. (2011). Applying a health literacy lens to preventative children's oral health programming. *Unwelt und Gesundheit*, *4*, 30-4.

- van Dooren, C., Douma, A., Aiking, H., & Vellinga, P. (2017). Proposing a novel index reflecting both climate impact and nutritional impact of food products. *Ecological Economics*, *131*, 389-398.
- Van Lippevelde, W., Te Velde, S. J., Verloigne, M., Van Stralen, M. M., De Bourdeaudhuij, I., Manios, Y. & Chinapaw, M. J. (2013). Associations between family-related factors, breakfast consumption and BMI among 10-to 12-year-old European children: the cross-sectional ENERGY-study. *PLoS One*, 8(11), e79550.
- Visscher, T. L. S., Kromhout, D., &Seidell, J. C. (2002). Long-term and recent time trends in the prevalence of obesity among Dutch men and women. *International journal of obesity*, *26*(9), 1218-1224.
- Waddington, G. S. (2019). Children's fitness, fatness and sugar. *Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport*, 22(12), 1279.
- Wang, Y., Monteiro, C., & Popkin, B. M. (2002). Trends of obesity and underweight in older children and adolescents in the United States, Brazil, China, and Russia. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 75(6), 971-977.
- Wang J., Shang L., Light K., O'Loughlin J., Paradis G., Gray-Donald K. (2015). Associations between added sugar (solid vs. liquid) intakes, diet quality, and adiposity indicators in Canadian children. Appl. Physiol. Nutr. Metab. 40:835–841. doi: 10.1139/apnm-2014-0447.
- Welsh, J.A., Cogswell, M.E., Rogers, S., Rockett, H., Mei, Z. &Grummer-Strawn, L.M. (2005). Overweight among low-income preschool children associated with the consumption of sweet drinks: Missouri, 1999-2002. *Pediatrics*, 115(2), e223-e229.
- White, J. R. (2018). Sugar. Clinical Diabetes, 36(1), 74-76.
- Willett, W., & Skerrett, P. J. (2017). *Eat, drink, and be healthy: the Harvard Medical School guide to healthy eating.* Simon and Schuster.
- Wojcicki, J. M., Medrano, R., Lin, J., & Epel, E. (2018). Increased Cellular Aging by 3 Years of Age in Latino, Preschool Children Who Consume More Sugar-Sweetened Beverages: A Pilot Study. *Childhood Obesity*, 14(3), 149–157.
- World Health Organization (WHO). (2016). 10 *Facts on obesity*. Retrieved from https://www.who.int/features/factfiles/obesity/facts/en/
- World Cancer Research Fund, & American Institute for Cancer Research. (2007). *Food, nutrition, physical activity, and the prevention of cancer: a global perspective* (Vol. 1). Amer Inst for Cancer Research.
- World Health Organization. (2010). Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. Evaluation of certain food additives. Seventy-first report of the Joint FAO/WHO Expert Committee on Food Additives. World Health Organ Tech Rep Ser.(956):1-80.

- World Health Organization (2017). *Noncommunicable diseases progress monitor*. WHO https://www.who.int/nmh/publications/ncd-progress-monitor-2017/ en/ (2017).
- World Health Organization. (2000). *Obesity: preventing and managing the global epidemic* (No. 894). World Health Organization.
- World Health Organization (2016). Obesity and overweight. WHO https://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs311/en/ (2016)
- World Health Organization. (2002). *The European health report 2002*. World Health Organization. Regional Office for Europe.
- World Health Organization (2021). *Obesity and overweight*. <u>https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/obesity-and</u>overweight#:~:text=Overweight%20and%20obesity%20are%20defined%20as%20follows%20for%20children%20aged,the%20WHO%20Growth%20Reference%20median.
- Woringer, V., &Schütz, Y. (2003). Obesity in Switzerland: body mass index (BMI) percentiles of a child and adolescent population born in 1980 in Lausanne and comparison with Swiss norms (1955). *Sozial-und Praventivmedizin*, 48(2), 121-132.
- Wyszyńska J., Ring-Dimitriou S., Thivel D., Weghuber D. (2020). *Physical Activity in the Prevention of Childhood Obesity: The Position of the European Childhood Obesity Group and the European Academy of Pediatrics* Doi: doi: 10.3389/fped.2020.535705
- Yang, L., & Colditz, G. A. (2015). Prevalence of overweight and obesity in the United States, 2007–2012. JAMA Internal Medicine, 175(8), 1412–1413. Doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2015.2405
- Yoshida, Y., &Simoes, E. J. (2018). Sugar-Sweetened Beverage, Obesity, and Type 2 Diabetes in Children and Adolescents: Policies, Taxation, and Programs. *Current Diabetes Reports*, 18(6).
- Yoo S. Dynamic Energy Balance and Obesity Prevention. (2018). J ObesMetabSyndr 27(4):203–12. doi: 10.7570/jomes.2018.27.4.203
- Zambelas, A. (2003). Nutrition in the stages of life. Medical Publications PH Paschalidis, Athens. (in Greek).
- Zhang, Y., Proenca, R., Maffei, M., Barone, M., Leopold, L., & Friedman, J. M. (1994). Positional cloning of the mouse obese gene and its human homologue. *Nature*, *372*(6505), 425–432.
- Zimmermann, M. B., Gübeli, C., Püntener, C., & Molinari, L. (2004). Overweight and obesity in 6-12year-old children in Switzerland. *Swiss Medical Weekly*, 134(35-36), 523-528.

# Ηλεκτρονικές Πηγές:

- 1. www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4443321/
- 2. <u>www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23493533</u>
- 3. www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23966427
- 4. www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23612318
- 5. <u>www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2768570/</u>
- 6. www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4551584/
- 7. www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4856550/
- 8. www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22291727
- 9. www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24493081
- 10. www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4166864/
- 11. www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3584048/
- 12. www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3969361/
- 13. www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4420570/
- 14. www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/29408694
- 15. www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26055949
- 16. www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4884775/
- 17. www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17448569
- 18. www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22070422
- 19. www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5046992/
- 20. www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24743309
- 21. www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19880930
- 22. www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3903110/
- 23. www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28751637/
- 24. www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26109579
- 25. www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3583887/
- 26. www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28420091
- 27. <u>www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17921406</u>
- 28. www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4761710/
- 29. www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4326908/
- 30. www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4229419/
- 31. <u>www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3773450/www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3595327/</u>
- 32. www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3494407/
- 33. www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21765006
- 34. <u>www.healthline.com/nutrition/too-much-sugar</u>
- 35. <u>https://emedicine.medscape.com/article/985333</u>
- 36. <u>https://www.hsph.harvard.edu/nutritionsource/2016/08/23/aha-added-sugar-limits-children/</u>